Case: 1:16-cv-08251 Document #: 24 Filed: 10/17/16 Page 1 of 16 PagelD #:112

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS
EASTERN DIVISION

ChrisKen Group LLC and CK Property

Management LLC, No. 16-cv-08251
Plaintiffs, Hon. William T. Hart

V. Magistrate Judge Sidney I.

Schenkier
HAS Capital LLC, Stephen A. Wheeler, Eric
R. Decator LLC, Eric R. Decator, BMO

Harris Bank NA, and Konstantino Apostolou,

Defendants.

N N N N N N N N N N N N N

MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF DEFENDANTS HAS CAPITAL LLC, STEPHEN A.
WHEELER, ERIC R. DECATOR LLC, AND ERIC R. DECATOR’S
MOTION TO DISMISS COMPLAINT

Shelly B. Kulwin

Jeffrey R. Kulwin

Julie D. Yeagle

KULWIN, MASCIOPINTO & KULWIN, LLP.
161 N. Clark Street, Suite 2500

Chicago, IL 60601

T: 312.641.0300

F: 312.855.0350

Attorneys for Defendants



Case: 1:16-cv-08251 Document #: 24 Filed: 10/17/16 Page 2 of 16 PagelD #:113

Defendants HAS Capital, LLC (HAS Capital), Stephen Wheeler (Wheeler), Eric R.
Decator (Decator), and Eric Decator LLC (Decator LLC), referred to herein collectively as
“Defendants,” respectfully submit this memorandum in support of their Rule 12(b)(6) motion to
dismiss Plaintiffs” Complaint, which is attached hereto as Exhibit 1.

I. INTRODUCTION

Plaintiffs’ Complaint is a classic case of disappointment run amok. Seeking to profit
from real estate that HAS Capital could potentially buy in the future, plaintiffs ChrisKen Group,
LLC, and CK Property Management, LLC (Plaintiffs) say they agreed to help HAS Capital in
identifying and acquiring multi-million dollar rental properties. As a part of the alleged deal,
Plaintiffs agreed that they would be paid if, and only when, a property they helped HAS Capital
obtain was actually bought and acquired by HAS Capital. Plaintiffs took the risk, however, that
HAS Capital would not buy any properties Plaintiffs identified and, as a result, no compensation
would be due or paid for work Plaintiffs did on any real estate opportunity they identified. This is
exactly what Plaintiffs allege happened here. Yet, instead of honoring their end of the alleged
agreement, Plaintiffs are trying to get money for deals that were never consummated for property
that HAS Capital never had any obligation to buy.

Plaintiffs have thrown out just about every imaginable claim in their Complaint. In
particular, Plaintiffs have asserted twelve separate counts against Defendants, ranging from a
claim that Defendants allegedly participated in activity that violated the Racketeering Influenced
and Corrupt Organizations Act, 18 U.S.C. § 1961 et. seq., to state law claims based on
misrepresentation, breach of contract and quantum meruit. As will be shown below, none of

Plaintiffs’ counts sets forth a valid claim and the Complaint should be dismissed.*

! Defendants BMO Harris Bank National Association and Konstantino Apostolou (hereinafter the “BMO
Harris Defendants™) have filed a separate motion to dismiss that is incorporated by reference herein.
1
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I1. PLAINTIFFS’ ALLEGATIONS?
A. The Parties

Plaintiffs are in the business of identifying, managing and assisting third-parties in
acquiring residential rental properties. (Ex. 1, {f 2-5.) HAS Capital, and its Chairman Wheeler,
are in the business of investing in real estate. (Id. Y 9-10.) Decator, through his law firm,
Decator LLC, is general counsel to HAS Capital. (Id. 17 11, 13.)

B. The Alleged Business Relationship Between the Parties

On March 5, 2012, HAS Capital requested that Plaintiffs function as HAS Capital’s
“operating partners” for the acquisition of “multi-million dollar real estate acquisitions of 300
units or more, ranging in price from $30,000,000 to $100,000,000.” (Id. § 33.) In late March
2015, HAS Capital directed Plaintiffs to begin “underwriting and negotiating” property
acquisitions for the benefit of HAS Capital. (Id. 17 37-38.) In “the second quarter of 2015,”
HAS Capital and Wheeler represented to Plaintiffs that HAS Capital had secured a sovereign
wealth fund as its investor—an entity that Plaintiffs identified as “the Sovereign Fund.” (1d. 11
39, 40-42.) According to Plaintiffs, HAS Capital and Wheeler told Plaintiffs that the identity of
the “Sovereign Fund” was confidential between HAS Capital and Plaintiffs, that it was a Middle-
East, state-owned sovereign fund from Qatar, and that the “Sovereign Fund” had “unlimited
dollars to invest” to be used at HAS Capital’s discretion, to make “real estate acquisitions” with
Plaintiffs. (Id. §f 39-40, 42, 44.) In April 2015, HAS Capital and Plaintiffs executed an
Operating Partnership and Management Agreement (“the Agreement”) with the “objective of
acquiring multifamily properties.” (Id. 1 45-46 & Ex. A.) The Agreement included an “Exhibit

A” stating that compensation would be determined on a “property-by-property” basis. (I1d.)

2 The allegations of the Complaint are taken as true solely for purposes of this motion to dismiss. See
Hernandez v. City of Goshen, 324 F.3d 535, 537 (7th Cir. 2003). Defendants reserve the right to deny
any all such allegations at any appropriate time.

2
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C. The Alleged Real Estate Deals

Plaintiffs allege that, between June and July 2015, they sent Letters of Intent to purchase
three properties on behalf of HAS Capital. (1d. 11 49, 81, 108.) The properties are identified in
the Complaint as the Balmoral Property, the Cypress Point Property and the St. Andrews
Property. (Id.) The seller of each of the three properties sent a written “buyer-questionnaire” to
Plaintiffs and HAS Capital, and each of the sellers also conducted a “qualifying telephone
conference” with Plaintiffs and Defendants “seeking information about Plaintiffs and HAS
Capital.” (Id. Y 51-53, 61, 83-85, 88, 110-12, 119.) Plaintiffs allege that during each
“qualifying telephone conference,” Defendants and the BMO Harris Bank Defendants
purportedly represented that BMO Harris possessed, on HAS Capital’s behalf, “liquid and
drawable funds” necessary to close each of the real estate deals. (Id. { 62-63, 89-90, 120-121.)

During this negotiation process, Plaintiffs sent written “best and final” cash offers for the
three properties in the following amounts: the Balmoral Property ($44,000,000), the Cypress
Point Property ($48,500,000), and the St. Andrews Property ($38,200,000). (Id. 11 54, 95, 122).
Thereafter, HAS Capital was accepted as the buyer for the Balmoral Property and the Cypress
Point Property. (1d. 11 64 & 93.) However, the seller for the St. Andrews Property did not select
HAS Capital as a buyer. (I1d. 1 124.)

After the sellers for the Balmoral Property and the Cypress Point Property accepted HAS
Capital as the buyer, HAS Capital and the sellers negotiated further and exchanged drafts of
Purchase-Sale Agreements (PSAs). (Id. Y 66-67, 69-70, 74, 76, 96, 99-100, 102-103.)
However, HAS Capital never executed a PSA with the sellers of either the Balmoral Property or
the Cypress Point Property. (1d. 11 74-79, 106.) On July 27, 2015, the seller for the Balmoral
Property revoked its offer to sell to HAS Capital. (I1d. § 80.) On August 5, 2015, the seller for the

Cypress Point Property withdrew its offer to sell to HAS Capital. (I1d. 1 107.)
3
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On July 29, 2015, Plaintiffs called Decator to ask what happened with the deals. (1d. 11
125-126.) According to Plaintiffs, Decator told Plaintiffs that there was no money available
because “of the Chinese stock market crash.” (Id.) Decator also allegedly stated that the
“Sovereign Fund” was not a fund from the Mideast, and that it was “not involved” in the funding
of the three real estate deals. (1d. § 128.) HAS Capital told Plaintiffs that there was no “Sovereign
Fund” and that it was “trying to find an investor.” (Id. 1 129.) Plaintiffs also allege they
demanded payment of $96,778.79 in “costs” that HAS Capital refused to pay. (Id. 11217-219.)

I11. ARGUMENT
A. Motion to Dismiss Legal Standards
Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) permits the filing of a motion to dismiss a

complaint for “failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.” Bell Atlantic Corp. v.

Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 555-56 (2007); Ashcroft v. Igbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009). The two

key points are that (1) legal conclusions couched as factual allegations need not be taken as true,
and (2) the well-pleaded factual allegations, viewed as true, must establish that the plaintiffs

claim is plausible. Id.; see also Brooks v. Ross, 578 F.3d 574, 580-82 (7th Cir. 2009). Not all

factual allegations suffice. “A pleading that offers ‘labels and conclusions’ or ‘a formulaic
recitation of the elements of a cause of action will not do.”” Igbal, 556 U.S. at 678 (citations
omitted). “Nor does a complaint suffice if it tenders ‘naked assertion[s]’ devoid of ‘further
factual enhancement.”” 1d. Rather, a complaint must contain sufficient facts to state a claim that
is “plausible on its face.” Id. A claim is “plausible” when facts are pled that “allows the court to
draw the reasonable inference that the defendant is liable for the misconduct alleged.” Id. The
plausibility standard requires “more than a sheer possibility that a defendant has acted
unlawfully.” 1d. Where an allegation is just as consistent with innocent action, it does not meet

the plausibility requirement. Id. at 679.
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B. Count I Fails to State a RICO Claim
Count | alleges Defendants engaged in activity that violated the Racketeering Influenced
and Corrupt Organizations Act (RICO), 18 U.S.C. § 1961 et. seq. To state a federal civil RICO
claim, Plaintiffs must allege: (1) conduct; (2) of an enterprise; (3) through a pattern; (4) of

racketeering activity. Sedima, S.P.R.L. v. Imrex Co., 473 U.S. 479, 496 (1985). The

“circumstances constituting fraud” must be pled with particularity under Rule 9(b). Evan Law

Grp. LLC v. Taylor, No. 09 C 4896, 2010 WL 5135904, at *3 (N.D. Ill. Dec. 9, 2010).

Plaintiffs’ RICO claim fails for several reasons discussed below.

1. No RICO “Enterprise”

Plaintiffs failed to allege that a RICO enterprise existed between Defendants. To state a

RICO claim, Plaintiffs “must identify an “enterprise.”” UECW v. Walgreen Co., 719 F.3d 849,

855-56 (7th Cir. 2013). A RICO “enterprise” is interpreted broadly, but it requires “a purpose,
relationships among those associated with the enterprise, and longevity sufficient to permit these
associates to pursue the enterprise’s purpose.” Boyle v. U.S., 556 U.S. 938, 946 (2009). Despite
the expansive nature of the definition of an enterprise, it is not limitless, and ordinary

commercial relationships will not suffice. UFCW, 719 F.3d at 855-56; Crichton v. Golden Rule

Ins. Co., 576 F.3d 392, 400 (7th Cir. 2009). A RICO claim must allege facts to demonstrate an
association with a structure and goals separate from the predicate acts themselves. 1d.; Panwar v.

Access Therapies, Inc., 975 F. Supp. 2d 948, 957 (S.D. Ind. 2013).

Here, the Complaint does not identify or allege in any detail the existence of an
“enterprise.” Plaintiffs also do not allege that Defendants participated in an “enterprise” with a
separate purpose apart from working on the three potential real estate deals identified in the
Complaint. At most, Plaintiffs’ allegations establish that Defendants had garden-variety

commercial relationships. They do not state, suggest, or establish that Defendants joined together
5
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to create a distinct entity for unlawful purposes as required to allege an “enterprise.” See

Richmond v. Nationwide Cassel, 52 F.3d 640, 644 (7th Cir. 1995) (RICO enterprise “is more

than just a group of people who get together to commit a pattern of racketeering activity.”);

Latimer v. Hall Fin. Grp., Inc., No. 90 C 0156, 1990 WL 133225, at *10 (N.D. Ill. Sept. 13,

1990) (an enterprise is “something more than a conspiracy.”) (citations omitted).

Instead, Plaintiffs allege legally insufficient “labels” and “conclusions” to describe
Defendants’ activity as an “enterprise.” (Ex. 1, 1 139-140.) The Complaint is devoid of
allegations to demonstrate that Defendants purportedly acted with some common goal or

purpose, an “essential ingredient” of an “enterprise.” Guaranteed Rate, Inc. v. Barr, 912 F. Supp.

2d 671, 687 (N.D. Ill. 2012). The Complaint contains no allegations to establish that Defendants
had any interest in the outcome of the alleged scheme beyond their own individual business
interests. Id. Although Plaintiffs say that Defendants collaborated with the purpose to mislead,
there are no allegations that another common purpose existed apart from Defendants’ individual
business interests. For example, there is no indication in the Complaint that the Defendants
shared in the profits of the alleged “enterprise” as opposed to earning their own respective profits

from their respective business activity. See Oberoi v. Mehta, No. 10 C 7275, 2011 WL 1337107,

at *4 (N.D. Ill. Apr. 6, 2011) (no enterprise where defendants did not share in enterprise profits).
The Complaint does not allege how any defendant benefitted at all from proposing or negotiating
transactions that, allegedly, they could not close.

2. No RICO “Conduct” of an Alleged Enterprise

Plaintiffs also failed to allege that Defendants conducted the affairs of the alleged
enterprise, as required by 18 U.S.C. 1962(c). Specifically, Plaintiffs must plead that Defendants

“participate[d] in the operation or management of the enterprise itself.” Reves v. Ernst &

Young, 507 U.S. 170, 172 (1993); Goren v. New Vision Int’l., 156 F.3d 721, 728 (7th Cir. 1998).
6
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Here, Plaintiffs allege that Defendants had business relationships, but they do not
establish that Defendants took part in the operation or management of an “enterprise.” Simply
performing services for an enterprise, even with knowledge of the enterprise’s illicit nature, is
not enough to establish RICO liability. Goren, 156 F.3d at 728. The same is true for the
“[s]imple exertion of control over one aspect” of an alleged enterprise’s activities. Slaney v. Int’|

Amateur Athletic Fed’n, 244 F.3d 580, 598 (7th Cir. 2001).

3. No “Pattern of Racketeering Activity”

Plaintiffs failed to allege a “pattern” of racketeering activity. To establish a pattern of
racketeering activity, Plaintiffs must allege facts to show continued criminal activity or the threat
thereof, including a relationship between the predicate acts, commonly referred to as the

“continuity plus relationship” test. Evan Law Grp. LLC v. Taylor, No. 09 C 4896, 2010 WL

5135904, at *4 (N.D. lll. Dec. 9, 2010) (citations omitted); Empress Casino Joliet Corp. V.

Balmoral Racing Club, Inc., 831 F.3d 815 (7th Cir. 2016). Here, to establish a pattern of

racketeering activity, Plaintiffs must rely on “an open-ended series of conduct that, while short-
lived, shows clear signs of threatening to continue into the future.” Taylor, 2010 WL 5135904 at
*4. Plaintiffs can demonstrate open-ended continuity by showing: (1) “a specific threat of
repetition” exists; (2) “the predicates are a regular way of conducting an ongoing legitimate
business,” or (3) “the predicates can be attributed to a defendant operating as part of a long-term
association that exists for criminal purposes.”” 1d.

Here, Plaintiffs—two related entities—are the only alleged victims of Defendants’
purported activity. While Plaintiffs allege multiple misrepresentations, there is one key alleged
wrongful act, namely Defendants alleged misrepresentation about HAS Capital’s alleged
investor and the ability to close the three real estate deals identified in the Complaint. Although

Plaintiffs dress up their allegations as a pattern of conduct, Plaintiffs only alleged a single,
7
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relatively narrow set of facts. Once the offers for the properties were withdrawn, the alleged

scheme was over. Empress Casino Joliet Corp, supra. There is no allegation in the Complaint to

state, suggest or establish that Defendants would engage in similar future conduct.
As a result, and under established federal law, Plaintiffs’ allegations do not establish a

pattern of racketeering activity. See Roger Whitmore’s Auto v. Lake Cty., 424 F.3d 659, 674

(7th Cir. 2005) (no pattern where plaintiff pled single scheme over two years with *“a dozen or

s0” victims); Triad Associates v. CHA, 892 F.2d 583, 595 (7th Cir. 1989) (no pattern for single

scheme lasting 27 months, two transactions and affecting only one victim); Shepard v. Lustig,

912 F. Supp. 2d 698, 707 (N.D. Ill. 2012) (single scheme lasting 20 months, targeting seven
victims and causing the same single type of injury insufficient to establish pattern); Triumph

Packaging v. Ward, No. 11 C 7927, 2014 WL 949011, a *5-6 (N.D. Ill. Mar. 11, 2014) (no

pattern for alleged scheme lasting 22 months); Draper v. Pickus, No. 04 C 8150, 2005 WL

1564983, at *6 (N.D. Ill. June 29, 2005) (no pattern where “the partnership at issue has ceased to
exist” and plaintiff did not allege “any future threat of repetition.”).

4. No Concrete Damage or Injury

Plaintiffs failed to allege that they suffered any actual injury. Proving actual injury is a

standing requirement for RICO claims. 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c); Evans v. City of Chicago, 434 F.3d

916, 924 (7th Cir. 2006); Vazquez v. Cent. States Joint Bd., 547 F. Supp. 2d 833, 856 (N.D. IIl.

2008). To confer standing, Plaintiffs’ alleged injuries must be ““concrete and actual,” as opposed
to ‘speculative and amorphous.”” Evans, 434 F.3d at 932; Vazquez, 547 F. Supp. 2d at 860-61.
Here, the alleged actual damage Plaintiffs claim they suffered is the compensation and costs they
say they would have received if the real estate deals identified in the Complaint had been
consummated. However, this is insufficient, because Plaintiffs’ alleged right to compensation

and costs was neither mandatory nor certain. See Triumph Packaging, 877 F. Supp. at 641
8
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(dismissing RICO claim because right to bonus was not mandatory or certain). Plaintiffs’
claimed lost “good will” and expectancy damages for fees they could have earned had the deals
closed are the very type of speculative and amorphous injuries that are insufficient to confer
standing under RICO.
C. Counts I11-V and VII11-XI1 Fail to State Misrepresentation Claims

In Counts 1I-V and VII-XII, Plaintiffs allege state law misrepresentation claims against
HAS Capital, Wheeler, Decator and Decator LLC based on alleged misrepresentations made to
Plaintiffs and the sellers of the three properties identified in the Complaint regarding HAS
Capital’s investor and their ability to close real estate deals. As will be shown below, Plaintiffs’
misrepresentation claims fail for several reasons.

1. The Fraudulent Misrepresentation Claims Fail

In Counts 11-V, Plaintiffs allege fraudulent misrepresentation claims. To state the claim,
Plaintiffs must allege: (1) a false statement of material fact; (2) by one who knows or believes it
to be false; (3) made with the intent to induce action by another in reliance on the statement; (4)
action by the other in reliance on the truthfulness of the statement; and (5) injury to the other

resulting from that reliance. Wigod v. Wells Fargo Bank, 673 F.3d 547, 569 (7th Cir. 2012).

a. Conclusory Allegations
Plaintiffs failed to allege sufficiently that Defendants made misrepresentations to
Plaintiffs. For example, Plaintiffs allege that Defendants misrepresented to Plaintiffs facts about
HAS Capital’s investor and ability to close real estate deals before the alleged Agreement was
signed. (Ex. 1, 1139, 42, 44.) However, Plaintiffs allege no facts to establish the conclusion that
Defendants’ alleged statements were, in fact, false at the time they were made. Instead, Plaintiffs
alleged only the ultimate legal conclusion of misrepresentation. Plaintiffs simply conclude that,

because there was no funding at the time the sellers sent the final PSAs, the prior statements
9
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Defendants allegedly made about their ability to close real estate deals must have been false.
These conclusory allegations fail to state a misrepresentation claim with the particularity
required under Rule 9(b).

Plaintiffs also allege Defendants made false statements to the sellers of the properties
identified in the complaint about HAS Capital’s investor and ability to close real estate deals.
(Ex.1, 11 53, 85, 103.) However, for the same reasons stated above, Plaintiffs alleged no facts to
establish that these statements were false. Regardless, Plaintiffs have no legal standing to assert

misrepresentation claims made to third parties. People ex rel. Broadview, Ill. V. Village of N.

Riverside, No. 05 C 4737, 2006 WL 1156549, at *5 (N.D. Ill. Apr. 26, 2006) (no claim where
misrepresentations made to third party, even though action affected plaintiff).
b. Implausible Claims
Plaintiffs’ misrepresentation claims are implausible and fail to state legally sufficient
causes of action. To begin, the Complaint’s allegations establish only that Defendants were
acting in accord with their contract rights. Under Illinois law, fraud cannot attach where, as here,

a party merely acts in accord with its contractual rights. See Northern Trust Co. v. VIII South

Mich. Assocs., 276 Ill. App. 3d. 355, 366 (1st Dist. 1995) (“A party cannot close his eyes to the
contents of a document and then claim that the other party committed fraud merely because it
followed th[e] contract”). The alleged Agreement between the parties did not require HAS
Capital to close any particular real estate deals (see Ex. 1, Ex. A), so Plaintiffs had every reason
to expect that any deals they worked on, including the three real estate deals identified in the

Complaint, might not close, even after Plaintiffs did the work.

10
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Plaintiffs’ misrepresentation claims are also implausible and fail to state
misrepresentation claims because there can be no misrepresentation claim based on any alleged

promise to close real estate deals in the future. See Jada Joys, Inc. v. Chicago Import, Inc., No.

07 C 699, 2008 WL 1722140, * 1 (N.D. lll. April 10, 2008) (misrepresenting an intention to
perform future conduct, even if made without a present intention to perform, not fraud); ABM

Engineering Servs. v. Thompson, No. 05 C 7090, 2006 WL 1517776, * 3 (N.D. Ill. May 24,

2006) (dismissing fraud claim based on misrepresentation of intent to perform future conduct).
Plaintiffs’ misrepresentation claims are also implausible and fail to state

misrepresentation claims because Plaintiffs cannot establish reasonable reliance on the alleged

misrepresentations. Plaintiffs must show that their reliance on the alleged misrepresentation was

reasonable and justified. Siegel Dev., LLC v. Peak Const. LLC, 2013 IL App (1st) 111973, 1

113-14 (citations omitted). Generally, the question of reasonable reliance is a question of fact;
however, where only one conclusion can be drawn from the undisputed facts, the question is one
for the court to determine. Id. In determining whether reliance was justifiable, “all of the facts
which the plaintiff knew, as well as those facts the plaintiff could have learned through the
exercise of ordinary prudence, are taken into account.” 1d. Parties may not enter into a
transaction with “eyes closed to available information” and then charge that they were “deceived
by another.” Id. Only where the alleged representation “contains nothing so improbable as to
cause doubt of its truth, the hearer may rely upon it without investigation . .. .” 1d.

Here, the only conclusion that can be drawn from the Complaint’s allegations is that
Plaintiffs’ alleged reliance on the statements Defendants purportedly made was unreasonable and
unjustified. For example, Plaintiffs say they relied on Defendants’ representations regarding
HAS Capital’s ability to close cash real estate deals between $30,000,000 and $100,000,000 with

“unlimited dollars to invest.” These alleged statements are sufficiently “improbable” to require
11
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investigation before it would be reasonable to rely upon them. This is especially true given
Plaintiffs’ claim that they are experienced in the businesses of assisting third-parties in acquiring
real estate. (Ex. 1, 1 2, 34, 141.) Plaintiffs did not allege they conducted any investigation into
Defendants’ alleged statements. Instead, Plaintiffs admit they entered the transactions with their
“eyes closed to available information.” Under these circumstances, Plaintiffs cannot allege that
they reasonably relied upon, and were deceived by, the Defendants’ alleged statements.

2. The Neqgligent Misrepresentation Claims Fail

In Counts VIII-XII, Plaintiffs allege negligent misrepresentation claims. The elements
for negligent misrepresentation are the same as fraudulent misrepresentation, except that the
mental state is different—the defendant need not know that the statement is false; rather,

“carelessness or negligence in ascertaining the truth” will suffice. Hartford Fire Ins. Co. v.

Henry Bros. Const., 877 F. Supp. 2d 614, 618-19 (N.D. Ill. 2012) (citations omitted). Plaintiffs’

negligent misrepresentation claims are legally insufficient for the same reasons Plaintiffs’
fraudulent misrepresentations are legally insufficient.

Plaintiffs’ negligent misrepresentation claims are also legally insufficient because they
are barred under state law. Under Illinois law, claims seeking purely economic damages based
on negligent misrepresentations generally are barred under the Moorman doctrine. Hartford Fire
Ins. Co., 877 F. Supp. 2d at 618-19. The exception to this rule is if the defendant “is in the
business of supplying information for the guidance of others in their business transactions.” Id.
That is not the case as to any defendant here because “the end product” of the parties’

relationship is “a tangible object.” 1d. (describing standard).

12
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Specifically, the intended end result of the alleged relationship between Plaintiffs and
Defendants was a tangible thing, e.q., the acquisition and management of multi-family rental
properties. The end product was not “information” Defendants provided; it was a tangible thing,
i.e., “acquiring multifamily properties.” Defendants were not in the business of providing
information, as the case law defines that legal construct; rather, and as the Complaint alleges,
Defendants were in the business of sourcing and managing third-party equity and investing third-
party equity in real estate assets. (Ex. 1, 19.) Because Defendants were not in the “business of
supplying information,” as that term is defined under Illinois case law, Plaintiffs’ negligent
misrepresentation claims fail.

D. Count XV Fails to State a Breach of Contract Claim

In Count XV, Plaintiffs allege a state law breach of contract claim against HAS Capital.
To state the claim, Plaintiffs must allege: (1) the existence of a contract; (2) the performance of
its conditions by Plaintiffs; (3) the breach by HAS Capital; and (4) damages as a result of the

breach. Kopley Grp. v. Sheridan Edgewater Properties, Ltd., 376 Ill. App. 3d 1006 (1st Dist.

2007). Plaintiffs” breach of contract claim seeks alleged compensation due and costs that
Plaintiffs allegedly incurred in performing under the Agreement. (Ex. 1, 11 217, 223). As shown
below, Plaintiffs’ breach of contract claim fails for at least two reasons.

First, Plaintiffs fail to allege that an enforceable contract requires Defendants to pay to
Plaintiffs compensation or costs. As to compensation, the Agreement states that any
compensation would be determined on a “property-by-property” basis. (Ex. 1, Ex. A.) There is
no allegation that any specific compensation was ever agreed between the parties and,
specifically, compensation relating to the three properties identified in the Complaint.
Defendants unilaterally attached a “Memorandum” to the Agreement that describes what

Plaintiffs contend was discussed between the parties regarding the *“basic economics,” but
13
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Plaintiffs do not allege that Defendants ever agreed to those terms or that those terms applied to
the three real estate deals identified in the Complaint. Indeed, the language of the Memorandum
shows that it was not, and was not intended to be, an enforceable agreement. (Id. (“These are the
recollections from my notes of the meeting. . . . Please provide any comments you have . . .”).)
As to costs, the Agreement states that Defendants will be responsible for paying third-party
costs. (Ex. 1, [Ex. A 1 9].) Id. The Agreement does not require Defendants to pay costs to
Plaintiffs or to pay the costs Plaintiffs incurred. (1d.)

Even assuming arguendo Plaintiffs alleged the existence of an enforceable contract
between the parties, Plaintiffs failed to allege the contract was breached. The Agreement is clear
that Defendants are required to pay Plaintiffs “on a property-by-property” basis if, and only
when, any deal is consummated. (Ex. 1, Ex. A, p. 1.) Nothing in the Agreement requires
Defendants to pay Plaintiffs anything with respect to a deal that does not close, which is what
exactly what Plaintiffs allege happened here. As a result, there is no alleged contract breach.

E. Count XVI Fails to State a Claim for Quantum Meruit

In Count XVI, Plaintiffs allege a state law claim for quantum meruit. Plaintiffs’ claim
requires a showing “that valuable services or materials were furnished by the plaintiff [and]
received by the defendant, under circumstances which would make it unjust for the defendant to

retain the benefit without paying.” Spitz v. Proven Winners, 969 F. Supp. 2d 994, 1007-08

(N.D. Ill. 2013) (citations omitted). “Notably, even when a person has received a benefit from
another, he is liable for payment ‘only if the circumstances of its receipt or retention are such
that, as between the two persons, it is unjust for him to retain it. The mere fact that a person

benefits another is not of itself sufficient to require the other to make restitution therefor.”” Id.

14
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Here, Plaintiffs failed to allege any facts to support the conclusion that it would be unjust
for Defendants to retain whatever benefits Plaintiffs say they provided. The Complaint contains
no allegations that Defendants made any use of any alleged benefit Plaintiffs claim they provided

to Defendants. First Nat. Bank of Springfield v. Malpractice Research, Inc., 179 Ill. 2d 353, 366

(1997) (no quantum meruit claim where defendant did not make use of plaintiff’s efforts and
plaintiff failed to show that its activities conferred any benefit on defendants). Plaintiffs did not
allege that HAS Capital bought any of the three properties identified in the Complaint without
paying for Plaintiffs’ alleged efforts. Nor did Plaintiffs allege that HAS Capital bought other
properties using the alleged benefits Plaintiffs say they provided. As a result, Plaintiffs failed to
establish unjust circumstances sufficient to support their quantum meruit claim.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Defendants’ motion to dismiss should be granted in its
entirety, Plaintiffs” Complaint should be dismissed, and Defendants should be granted such other
and further relief as is appropriate.

Respectfully submitted,
KULWIN, MASCIOPINTO & KULWIN, L.L.P.

By: /s/ Jeffrey R. Kulwin

Shelly B. Kulwin

Jeffrey R. Kulwin

Julie D. Yeagle

KULWIN, MASCIOPINTO & KULWIN, L.L.P.
161 North Clark Street, Suite 2500

Chicago, Illinois 60601

312-641-0300
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CK Property Management, LLC 'l el
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Plaintiffs, CAEENDAR/RDDN W

V- .

¥ i IﬁEﬂ 00 504
Case No. F =g
HAS Capital, LLC,

Siehen A, Whesler, TRIAL BY JURY DEMANDED
Eric R. Decator LLC, :
Eric R. Decator,

BMO Harris Bank National Association, and
Konstantino Apostolou,

Defendants.

COMPLAINT AT LAW AND EQUITY

NOW COME Plaintiffs ChrisKen Group, LLC and CK Property Management, LLC, by

and through their attorneys, Stevens Law Group, and complaining of Defendants HAS Capital

LLC, Stephen A. Wheeler, Eric R. Decator LLC, Eric R. Decator, BMO Harris Bank National

Association, and Konstantino Apostolou, state as follows

PARTIES TO THE TRANSACTIONS

1. At all times relevant, Plaintiff ChrisKen Group, LLC (“ChrisKen™) was a

domestic limited liability company duly licensed in the State of Illinois and doing business in

Cook County, Illinois with its principal place of business at 345 N. Canal St., Suite 201
Chicago, Illinois 60606.

2. At all times relevant, ChrisKen was in the business of identifying, managing,

upgrading, and assisting third-parties in acquiring residential rental properties nationwide
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3. Atall times relevant, Plaintiff CK Property Management, LLC (“*CK Property
Management™) was a domestic limited liability company duly licensed in the State of Illinois and
doing business in Cook County, Illinois with its principal place of business at 345 North Canal
Street, Suite 201, Chicago, Illinois 60606.

4. At all times relevant, CK Property Management was a subsidiary affiliate of
ChrisKen, and ChrisKen was the sole managing member of CK Property Management.

3 At all times relevant, CK Property Management was in the business of managing
rental properties that ChrisKen identified, managed, upgraded, and assisted third-parties in
acquirihg. |

6. At all times relevant, John “Jack™ F. Kennedy (“Kennedy”) was the president and
chief executive officer of ChrisKen and sole managing member of ChrisKen, and the actual
agent of CK Property Management.

7 ° At all times relevant, Robert Mayer (“Mayer”) was the vice-president and chief
financial officer of ChrisKen and the actual agent of ChrisKen and CK Property Management.

8. At all times relevant, Defendant HAS Capital, LLC (“HAS Capital™) was a
domeﬁtic limited liability company duly licensed in the State of Illinois and doing business in
Cook County, Illinois with its places of business at 33 North LaSalle Street, Suite 3800, Chicago,
[llinois 60602; 33 North LaSalle Street, Suite 1000, Chicago, Illinois 60602; 20 North Clark
Street, Suite 1150, Chicago, Illinois 60602; and 30 North LaSalle Street, Suite 1402, Chicago,
Ilinois 60602.

9, At all times relevant, HAS Capital held itself out as being in the business of
sourcing and managing third-party equity and investing third-party equity in long-term real estate

assets.
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10. | At all times relevant, Defendant Stephen A. Wheeler (“Wheeler”) was the
chairman of HAS Capital and the actual and apparent agent of HAS Capital.

11.  Atall times relevant, Defendant Eric R. Decator (“Decator”) was an attorney
licensed in the State of Illinois who acted as general counsel to HAS Capital and acted as counsel
to the Sovereign Fund, as described in pa_ragraphs 3942, and was the agent for Toronto |
Peachtree LLC, as described in paragraph 20.

12. At all _times llelevant, Defendant Eric R. Decator LLC (“Decator LLC™) was a
domestic limited liability company duly licensed in the State of Illinois and doing business in
Cook County, Illinois with its principal place of business at 561 Chateaux Bourne Drive,
Barrington, Illinois 60010-6312.

13. At all times relevant, Decator was the sole managing member of Decator LLC,
the actual agent of Decator LLC, the actual and apparent agent of HAS Capital, and the actual
and apparent agent of the Sovereign Fund, as described in paragraphs 39-42.

14. At all times relevant, Defendant BMO Harris Bank National Association (“BMO
Harris”) was an insured depository institution and national bank duly licensed to do business in
the State of Illinois and doing business in Cook County, Illinois with its headquarters located at
111 West Monroe Street, Chicago, Illinois 60603.

15.  Atall times relevant, Bank of Montreal (“BMO™) was a foreign bank and bank
holding company and financial holding company under the Bank Holding Company Act of 1956.

16. At all times relevant, BMO Financial Corp. was a Delaware corporation, bank
holding company, financial holding company, and a wholly-owned subsidiary of BMO. It was
the top-tier U.S. holding company folr most of BMO’s United States subsidiaries, including BMO

Harris, which employed Konstantino Apostolou, as described in paragraph 17.

d
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17. _ At all times relevant, Defendant Konstantino Apostolou (“Apostolou™) acted as an
assistant vice prf;sident and senior premier banker for BMO Harris with his offices at BMO
Harris Bank N.A., 520 Green Bay Road, Winnetka, Illinois 60093, was employed by BMO -
Harris, and was its actual and apparent agent.

PEOPLE/ENTITIES INVOLVED IN TRANSACTIONS

18. At all times relevant, Adam D. Peterson (*‘Peterson’) was employed by HAS
Capital and was its actual and apparent agent. .

19 At all times relevant, HAS Capital and Wheeler held Peterson out as an agent of
HAS Capital.

The Balmoral Property

20. At all times relevant, Toronto Peachtrec LLC (“Toronto Peachtree™) was a foreign
limited liability company organized on July 8, 2015 under the laws of the State of Delaware with
its registered agent at 2711 Centerville Road, Suite.400, Wilmington, Delaware 19808.

21. Toronto Peachtree was organized by Decator, Wheeler, Decator LLC, and HAS
Capital for the sole purpose of executing the Balmoral purchase-sale agreement (“the Balmoral
PSA™) and 6wning the Balmoral Property, as described in paragraph 22.

22. At all times relevant, Waterton Associates LLC (*the Balmoral Seller”) was a
domestic limited liability company, duly licensed in the State of [llinois located at 30 South
Wacker Drive, Chicago, Illinois 60606, and was the seller of all the real property that co'mprised
Balmoral Village Apartments, located at Peachtree City, Georgia (“the Balmoral Property™).

- 23. At all times relevant, Field Stern (“Stern™) was the assistant to the vice president

of dispositions and the actual and apparent agent of the Balmoral Seller.
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24, Atall times relevant, Cushman & Wakefield of Georgia, Inc. (“Cushman™) was a
real estate brokerage firm with its offices at 55 Ivan Allen Jr. Blvd., Suite 700, Atlanta, Georgia
30308, and was employed by the Balmoral Seller to facilitate the sale of the Balmoral Property.

25. At all times relevant, Chris Spain (“Spain™) was the real estate broker for the

Balmoral Seller and the actual and apparent agent of Cushman.

The Cvpress Point Property

26. At all times relevant, Shoptaw Group (“the Cypress Point Seller”) was a business
entity with its offices at Two Buckhead Plaza, 3050 Peachtree Road, NW, Suite 460, Atlanta,
Georgia 30305, and was the seller of the real property that comprised Cypress Point Apartments
in Alpharetta, Georgia (“the Cypress Point Property™).

217. At all times relevant, Jones Lang LaSalle (“JLL>) was a real estate brokerage firm
with its offices at 3344 Peachtree Road, NE, Suite 1100, Atlanta, Georgia 30326, and was
employed by the Cypress Point Seller to facilitate the sale of the Cypress Point Property.

28.  Atall times relevant, Derrick Bloom (“Bloom™) was the real estate broker for the
Cypress Point Seller, the managing director of JLL, and the actual and apparent agent of JLL.

29. At all times relevant, Emily Richards (“Richards™) was the chief financial officer
and chief operating officer of the Cypress Point Seller and the actual and apparent agent of the
Cypress Point Seller.

The St. Andrews Property

30. At all times relevant, Invesco Global Asset Management (N.A.), Inc. (“the St.
Andrews Seller”) was a foreigﬁ corporation, duly licensed under the laws of the State of

_ Delaware, with its offices at Two Peachtree Pointe, 1555 Peachtree Street, N.E., Suite 1800,
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Atlanta, Georgia 30309, and was the seller of the real property that comprised St. Andrews
Apartments of J ohns Creek, Georgia (“the St. Andrews Property™).
31.  Atall times relevant, Moran & Company was a real estate brokerage firm with its

offices at 3414 Peachtree Road, NE, Suite 475, Atlanta, Georgia 30326, and was employed by

-the St. Andrews Seller to facilitate the sale of the St. Andrews Property.

32. At all times relevant, Sean Henry (“Henry”) was the real estate broker for the St.
Andrews Seller and the actual and apparent agent of Moran & Company.

THE FRAUDULENT INDUCEMENT AND SCHEME

33.  Omn or about March 5, 2012, HAS Capital, through Wheeler, requested that
Plaintiffs and their affiliates function as HAS Capital’s and its affiliates” operating partners for
multi-million dollar real estate acquisitions of 300 units or more, ranging in price from
$30,000,000 to $100,000,000.

34. At all times relevant and at HAS Capital’s and Wheeler’s direction, Plaintiffs:

a. Used their broker contacts built up 0vér thirty years to find properties for HAS
Capital to acquire;

b. Did all underwriting and financial analysis relating to the acquisition of those
properties;

c. Conducted due diligence and negotiated the initial purchase for the acquisition of
those properties; and

d. Stood ready to perform acquisition, management, and design and implementation
of value-add upgrades for those properties.

35. Prior to, -on, and after November 4, 2014, Plaintiffs educated HAS Capital and

Wheeler about the customs and practices of real-estate acquisitions, including the bidding
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process and the timing of due diligence, access agreements, and purchase-sale agreements for
prospective institutional owners like HAS Capital and its affiliates.

36.  Between 2012 and 2014, HAS Capital and Wheeler represented to Plaintiffs that
HAS Capital was actively seeking investors to participate in real-estate acquisitions of 300 units
or more, ranging in price from $30,000,000 to $100,000,000.

37.  Inlate March 2015, HAS Capital and Wheeler directed Plaintiffs to begin
underwriting and negotiating property acquisitions for the benefit of HAS Capital and its
affiliates as purchasers.

38.  Thereafter, in late March 2015, Plaintiffs began underwriting and negotiating
property acquisitions for the benefit of HAS Capital and its affiliates as purchasers.

39. . Inabout the second quarter of 2015, HAS Capital and Wheeler represented to
Plaintiffs that HAS Capital had secured a sovereign wealth fund as its investor through domestic
entities and as HAS Capital’s affiliate as purchaser (“the Sovereign Fund”). Wheeler further
represented that the Sovereign Fund’s objective was to acquire multifamily properties of
approximately 300 units or more, ranging in price from $30,000,000 to $100,000,000; “[its]
appetite for large properties was unlimited”; and it had “unlimited dollars to invest.”

40.  Thereafter, in about the second quarter of 2015, HAS Capital and Wheeler
represented to Plaintiffs that the identity of the Sovereign Fund was confidential between
Plaintiffs and HAS Capital, and that it was a Middle-East, state-owned sovereign wealth fund
from Qatar.

41. Thereafter, in about the second quarter of 2015, HAS Capital and Wheeler
represented to Plaintiffs that the Sovereign Fund would be HAS Capital’s affiliate as purchaser

in all real estate transactions, and that the Sovereign Fund would organize, capitalize, and direct
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an-onshore, domestic entity, such as Toronto Peachtree, to act as investor and purchaser in the
real estate transactions, including the Balmoral, Cypress Point, and St. Andrews transactions.

42. Thereafter, in about the second quarter of 2015, HAS Capital and Wheeler
represented to P]aintiffs that the Sovereign Fund was providing sufficient capital to domestic
entities to be used by HAS Capital at HAS Capital’s and Wheeler’s discretion to make real
estate acquisitions with Plaintiffs and their affiliates as HAS Capital’s operating partners.

43. At all times relevant, Wheeler and Decator knew that any prospective seller
would require, through a buyer-questionnaire and qualifying telephone conference, proof that
HAS Capital and its affiliates as purchasers controlled and possessed sufficient discretionary
capital to consummate any given prospective real estate transaction.

44. On the morning of April 13, 2015, HAS Capital and Wheeler represented to
Plaintiffs in an email that HAS Capital and its affiliates would have “the initial SO million
available in 3 weeks” and that Wheeler “need[s] to discuss how [Plaintiffs and HAS Capital can]
get all of [their] respective documentation completed and deals started” during the week of April
13,2015.

45.  On April 18 and 22, 2015, HAS Capital, through Wheeler and Peterson; and
Plaintiffs executed an Operating Partnership and Management Agreement and compensation -
memorandum setting forth compensation from HAS Capital to Plaintiffs (“the Agreement”), a
copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit A.

46.  The principal purpose of the Agreement was for Plaintiffs and their affiliates to
provide certain services to HAS Capital ané its affiliates as purchasers “with the objective of

acquiring multifamily properties.”
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47.  Under paragraph 3(b) (i) of the Agreement, HAS Capital agreed that it would be
responsible with Plaintiffs for property negotiations, including that “[i]f a ‘qualifying’ call
between the Seller and HAS as Buyer is required. . . . HAS will participate on the call and
provide sufficient evidence of capital to close and discretion as required.”

48. Pursuant to the Agreement, compensation to Plaintiffs and their affiliates in
exchange for performance ( collectivély “the Compensation™) was as follows:

a. An “Acquisition Fee” totaling 1% of the purchase price of any underlying asset,
0.75% of which would be paid at closing of the acquisition, and 0.25% of which

_would be paid at permanent debt financing of any given real estate asset that HAS
Capital consummated pursuant to the Agreement;

b. An “Ongoing Property Management Fee” - 4.0% of collected gross revenues, paid
monthly;

c. A “Construction Management Fee” - 5.0% of all reniovation/value add
construction costs; paid as drawn from a construction reserve. No construction
management fee would be paid on normal periodic repairs less than $25,000 in
total;

~d. A “Disposition Fee” - 0.50% of the gross sales price of the underlying asset at its
eventual sale; and

e. A “Profit Participation Fee” - 10% of Ongo-in g Net Cash Flow after an Internal
Rate of Return on the total investment by HAS Capital reached 8.0%. Such
internal rate of return would be calculated on a “Private Equity Basis™ assuming a
market sale beginning on the 3rd anniversary of the initial intermediate term

financing of the underlying asset; regardless of whether a sale was actually
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consummated. The Internal Rate of Return would be based upon the equity
investment of HAS Capital remaining immediately following the initial
intermediate term financing.

The Balmoral Transaction

49, On or about June 1, 2015, with HAS Capital’s and Wheeler’s approval, consent,
and assurance that HAS Capital and its affiliate as purchaser had control of and discretion over
sufficient acquisition funds, Plaintiffs sent to the Balmoral Seller and its broker Spain a Letter of
Intent (“the Balmoral LOI”) for CK Property Management or an affiliated entity to purchase
from the Balmoral Seller for $42,744,000 in cash “All the real property that comprises [the
Bélmoral Property], which includes 312 residential apartment units in addition to all personal
property and intangibles associated with the [P]roperty.”

50. On or about June 1, 2015, the Balmoral Seller advised Plaintiffs that it had
included CK Property Management and its affiliate as purchaser in the final selection process to
purchase the Balrnbrai Property.

5. Thereafter, on June 1, 2015, the Balmoral Seller sent to Kennedy the Balmoral
buyer-questionnaire, seeking pertinent information about Plaintiffs and HAS Capital and its
affiliate as purchaser.

52. Thereafter, on June 1, 2015, after completing Plaintiffs> portion of the document,
Kennedy forwarded the Balmoral buyer-questionnaire to Wheeler and Peterson for HAS Capital
to complete questions directed to it.

53.  OnoraboutJune 2, 2015 and at all times relevant pertaining to the Balmoral

transaction, Wheeler, Peterson, HAS Capital, Decator, and Decator LLC represented to the

10
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Balmoral Seller, Plaintiffs, and others in the Balmoral buyer-questionnaire (collectively “the

Balmoral Representations™) that:

d.

54.

The entity or person providing capital to consummate the Balmoral transaction
was “Confidential — Equity funds [to be] confirm[ed] through bank
intermediary . . . No approval authority required”;

“HAS Capital is [sic] fund manager with over $400 million in assets under
advisement and discretionary equity capital commitments exceeding over $1
billion for investment in real estate-and real estate related assets™;

“Equity is provided through an on-shore investment gntity wholly owned by an
investor [the Sovereign Fund] with capital in excess of $1 billion in US equity.
Equity deployment is HAS Capital discretionary™;

“The equity source [the Sovereign Fund] has reviewed internal confidential

~ underwriting and credit review analysis provided by HAS Capital as part of [its] .

normal credit and disclosure process™;

The amount of equity to be used to acquire the Balmoral Property was “Equity
sufficient to pay [sic] purchase price plus associated closing costs and to
commence stated improvements”; and

“We have closed transactions of a similar size with the equity source[’]s US
intermediary within the past 6 months.”

On June 3, 2015, at the direction and on behalf of HAS Capital and its affiliate as

purchaser, Plaintiffs sent to Spain and the Balmoral Seller a best-and-final offer (“the Balmoral

BFO”) and the Balmoral buyer-questionnaire, as completed by HAS Capital, to purchase the

Balmoral Property for $44.000,000 in cash.

11
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£5. On or about June 3, 2015, Kennedy advised Wheeler that the Balmoral Seller
- would want a clear articulation of how Wheeler or anyone else could confirm that sufficient
funds were immediately available for the entire $44,000,000 cash transaction for the Balmoral
Property.

56. On or about June 3 or June 4, 2015, Spain informed Plaintiffs that the Balmoral
Seller acknowledged receipt of the Balmoral BFO. -

57. On or about June 4, 2015, the Balmoral Seller sent to Plaintiffs and HAS Capital a
copy of the Balmoral PSA.

The Specially Arranged June 9, 2015 Qualifvine Conference Calil

58. On or about June 8, 2015, Decator informed Wheeler and Peterson that HAS
Capital’s “banker at BMO Harris [wal]s willing to verify [their] funds by telephone.”-

. 59.  The banker to whom Decator referred on or about June 8, 2015 was Apostolou at
BMO Harris.

60. On June 9, 2015, in a letter to the Balmoral Seller and Plaintiffs, Wheeler stated
that *“[w]e will have the call confirming the availability of funds to HAS [Capital] in order to
consummate the transaction this afternoon of June 9, 2015.”

61. On June 9, 2015, Plaintiffs, HAS Capital, Wheeler, Peterson, Decator, the
Balmoral Seller, Spain, and Apostolou, on behalf of BMO Harris, participated in a specially
arranged qualifying telephone conference call (“the Balmoral Qualifying Call™).

62. During the Balmoral Qualifying Call, Decator stated to Plaintiffs, the Balmoral
Seller, and others that BMO Harris possessed, on HAS Capital’s and its affiliate as purchaser’s
behalf, liquid and drawable funds necessary to consummate and close the $44,000,000 Balmoral

transaction, and that the funds were available at HAS Capital’s and Wheeler’s discretion.
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63.  Also during the Balmoral Qualifying Call, Apostolou, on Behalf of BMO Harris,
stated to Plaintiffs, the Balmoral Seller, and olthers that BMO Harris possessed, on HAS
Capital’s and its affiliate as purchaser’s behalf, liquid and drawable funds necessary to
consummate and close the $44,000,000 Balmoral transaction, and that the funds were available
at HAS Capital’s and Wheeler’s discretion.

64. 'On or about June 9, 2015, the Balmoral Seller accepted HAS Capital or its
affiliated entity as the selected purchaser based on the Balmoral BFO, the Balmoral buyer-
questionnaire, and the Balmoral Qualifying Call.

65.  But for the representations made by Defendants in the Balmoral BFO, the
Balmoral buyer-questionnaire, and the Balmoral Qualifying Call, the Balmoral Seller would not
have se]ecfed HAS Capital and its affiliate as purchaser.

66. Prior to, on and after June 9, 2015, Decator reviewed the Balmoral PSA, sent to
HAS Capital on or about June 4, 2015, and sent his preliminary comments on the Balmoral PSA
to Kennedy, Peterson, and Wheeler.

67. Between June 19, 2015 and June 24, 2015, Decator sent to the Balmoral Seller’s
counsel a revised Balmoral PSA with his comments.

68. On June 24, 2015, Decator told Kennedy, Mayer, and Wheeler that “I have a call
with [the Balmoral Seller]’s lawyer tomorrow afternoon to discuss this latest draft of the contract
and see if we can narrow the Opén issues.”

69. On June 30, 2015, Decator sent to the Balmoral Seller’s counsel another revised
Balmoral PSA with his comments.

70. . Between June 30, 2015 and July 7, 2015, Decator and the Balmoral Seller’s

counsel exchanged revised drafts of the Balmoral PSA with comments.

13
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71. ‘On or. about July 7, 2015, Decator had a specially-arranged telephone call with the
Balmoral Seller’s counsel to discuss the Balmoral PSA.

72.  OnJuly 7, 2015, Kennedy asked Decator if the specially-arranged telephone call
with the Balmoral Seller’s counsel went well.

73.  OnJuly 7, Decator informed Kennedy that “It went well. I should have a revised |
draft of the [Balmoral PSA] out by tomorrow, which should be final and ready to sign.”

74. On July 8, 2015, Decator sent a revised draft of the Balmoral PSA to the Balmoral
Seller. _ |

75. © OnJuly 8, 2015, Decator informed Kennedy that “We still need the [Balmoral]
Seller to complete the missing Exhibits. [ will probably sign the agreement for Toronto
Peachtree, LLC, rather than [Wheeler].”

76. Thereafter, on or about July 8, 2015, the Balmoral Seller fetumed a-final version
of the Balmoral PSA to Decator for HAS Capital’s, Decator’s, r;)r both of their signatures on
behalf of Toronto Peachtree.

717. On or about July 22, 2015, the Balmoral Seller informed Wheeler and Decator
that the Balmoral Seller was ready and willing to sign and otherwise execute the Balmoral PSA
provided to it by Decator.

78. Between July 22, 2015 and July 27, 2015, Decator, Wheeler, HAS Capital and
Toronto Peachtree refused to sign the Balmoral PSA.

79. . Onor about July 27, 2015, Decator, Wheeler, and HAS Capital and its affiliate as
purchaser still had not executed the Balmoral PSA, despite repeated requests from Spain, Stern,

Kennedy, Mayer, and others to do so.

14
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80. On or about July 27, 2015, the Balmoral Seller tendered to HAS Capital a
revocation of the Balmoral Seller’s offer to sell the Balmoral Property to HAS Capital and its
affiliate as purchaser.

The Cypress Point Transaction

81.  On or about June 25, 2015, with HAS Capital’s and Wheeler’s approval, consent,
and assurance that HAS Capital and its affiliate as purchaser had control of and discretion over
sufficient acquisition funds, Plaintiffs sent to the Cypress Point Seller and its broker Bloom a
Letter of Intent (*the Cypress Point LOi”) for CK Property Management or an affi liat-cd cntity to
purchase from the Cypress Point Seller for $47,500,000 in cash “All the real property that
comprises [the Cypress Point Property], which includes 306 residential apartment units in
addition to all personal property and intangibles associated with the [P]roperty.”

82.  On or about June 26, 2015, the Cypress Point Seller advised Plaintiffs that it had
included CK Property Management and its affiliate as purchaser in the final selection process to
purchase the Cypress Point Property.

83.  Thereafter, on June 26, 2015, the Cypress Point Seller sent to Kennedy the
Cypress Point buyer-questionnaire, seeking pertinent information about Plaintiffs and HAS
Capital and its affiliate as purchaser.

84.  Between June 26, 2015 and July 1, 2015, after completing Plaintiffs’ pertion of
the document, Kennedy forwarded the Cypress Point buyer-questionnaire to Wheeler and
Peterson for HAS Capital to complete questions directed to it.

85. On or about July 1, 2015 and at all times relevant pertaining to the Cypress Point

transaction, Wheeler, Peterson, HAS Capital, Decator, and Decator LL.C represented to the

15
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Cypress Point Seller, Plaintiffs, and others in the Cypress Point buyer-questionnaire (collectively
“the Cypress Point Representations™) that:
a. “[HAS Capital] will consummate the purchase of the property with 100% equity”;
‘b.  “HAS Capital LLC is a real estate ‘sub-advisor’ for a domestic investor[through
the Sovereign Fund] with over $1 billion committed to real estate acquisitions
throughout the US”;
c. “All capi-tal is funded by one investor[the Sovereign Fund]”;
d.~. “Sufficient equity to close the acquisition is drawable from the bank™;
e. That there are no “other approvals to be obtained to invest this equity in this
asset™;
f. “[HAS Capital is] currently concluding PSA negotiations on one contract on a
312 unit property in metro Atlanta”; and
g. “This acquisition wi]l_ assist us in solidifying our footprint in greater Atlanta; a
market we look to invest over $150 million in over the next 12 montljls.”

86. On July 1, 2015, at the direction of Wheeler and on behalf of HAS Capital and its
affiliate as purchaser, Plaintiffs sent to Bloom and the Cypress Point Seller a best-and-final offer
(“the Cypress Point BFO™) and the Cypress Point buyer-questionnaire, as completed by HAS
Capital, to purchase the Cypress Point Property for $48,200,000 in cash.

87. Between July 1 and July 6, 2015, Bloom informed Plaintiffs that the Cypress

Point Seller acknowledged receipt of the Cypress Point BFO.
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The Specially Arranged July 6, 2015 Qualifying Conference Call

88. On or about July 6, 2015, Plaintiffs, HAS Capital, Wheeler, Peterson, Decator, the
.Cypress Point Seller, Bloom, and Apostolou, on behalf of BMO Harris, participated in a
specially arranged qualifying telephone conference call (“the C ypre:ss Point Qualifying Call™).

89.  During the Cypress Point Qualifying Call, Decator stated to Plaintiffs, the
Cypress Point Seller, and others that BMO Harris possessed, on HAS Capital’s and its affiliate as
purchaser’s behalf, liquid and drawable ﬁ_mds necessary to consummate and close the
$48,200,000 Cypress Point transaction, that the funds were ava;ilabie at HAS Capital’s and
Wheeler’s discretion, and that the funds were coming from a “Mideast sovereign wealth fund.”

90. Also during the Cypress Point Qualifying Call, Apostolou, on behalf of BMO
Harris, stated to Plaintiffs, the Cypress Point Seller, and others that BMO Harris possessed, on
HAS Capital’s and its affiliate as purchaser’s behalf, liquid and drawable funds necessary to
consummate and close the $48,200,000 Cypress Point transaction, that the funds were available
at HAS Capital’s and Wheeler’s discretion, that the cash needed for the transaction “was only an
infinitesimal amount of the whole [amount in the Sovereign Fund]” available under HAS
Capital’s and Wheeler’s discretion, and that “I just need to know where and when to send the
fgnds.”

91. Thereafter, on July 6, 2015, HAS Capital and Wheeler directed Plaintiffs to
increase the Cypress Point BFO to $48,500,000 on behalf of HAS Capital and its affiliate as
purchaser.

92. Thereafter, on July 7, 2015, Plaintiffs sent to the Cypress Point Seller a revised
best-and-final offer for HAS Capital and its affiliate as purchaser to purchase the Cypress Point

Property for $48,500,000 in cash (“the Revised Cypress Point BFO”).
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93. Thereafter, on July 7, 2015 at 4:24 PM, the Cypress Point Seller acknowledged
fcceipt of the Revised Cypress Point BFO and accepted HAS Capital and its affiliate as the
selected purchaser based on the Revised Cypress Point BFO, the Cypfess Point buyer-
questionnaire, and the Cypress Point Qualifying Call.

94.  But for the representations made by Defendants in the Revised Cypress Point

BFO, the Cypress Point buyer-questionnaire, and the Cypress Point Qualifying Call, the Cypress

"Point Seller would not have selected HAS Capital and its affiliate as purchaser.

95. On July 7, 2015 at 5:13 PM, Decator stated to Kennedy that “T spoke with my Co-
Chairman this afternoon about this project. He knows the project well and is excited for us to
acqui.re it. Great job of getting this one for us.”

96. On july 8, 2015, the Cypress Point Seller sent to Decator, on behalf of HAS
Capital and the Sovereign Fund, a copy of the purchase-sale agreement for the Cypress Point
Property (“the Cypress Point PSA”); the email was copied to Wheeler, Peterson, and Plaintiffs.

97. On July 21, 2015, the Cypress Point Seller advised its broker, Bloom, that
“[Decator] ha[d] not given any comments yet [on the Cypress Point PSA] and [Decator and HAS
Capital] got the draft on Wednesday, July 8 and that it had been “[a]lmost two weeks and no
comments.”

98. Between July 8, 2015 and July 22, 2015, HAS Capital, Wheeler, and Decator did
not relay or communicate any comments regarding the Cypress Point PSA to the Cypress Point
Seller.

99.  On or about July 22, 2015, Decator on behalf of HAS Capital and its affiliate as
pﬁrchaser sent to the Cypress Point Seller the first revised draft of the Cypress Point PSA; the

email was copied to Wheeler, Peterson, and Plaintiffs.
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100.  On or about July 23, 2015, the Cypress Point Seller, through Richards, sent to
Decat.or a second revised draft of the Cypress.Point PSA.

101.  On or about July 24, 2015, Decator advised Richards that he had “not had 7;1
chance yet to fully review [Richards’s] revised draft” of the July 23, 2015 Cypress Point PSA.

102.  On or about July 28, 2015, Decator'sent to Richards the third revised draft of the
Cypress Point PSA.

103.  On July 29, 2015, Richards sent to Decator a final version_ofthe Cypréss Point
PSA that was agree;able to the Cypress Point Seller and feady for execution on behalf of the
Cypress Point Seller.

104. Between July 29, 2015 and August 5, 2015, 5ecator, Wheeler, and other agents of
HAS Capital refused to take phone calls and to respond to emails relating to execution by them
of the Cypress Point PSA and refused to execute the final Cypress Point PSA.

105. By August 5, 2015, Richards had not received any response from Decator,
Wheeler, or any other agent of HAS Capital and the Sovereign Fund regarding execution of the
Cypress Point PSA.

106.  On August 5, 2015, HAS Capital and its affiliate as purchaser, Wheeler, and
Decator still had not executed the Cypress Point PSA, despite repeated requests from the Cypress
Point Seller, Plaintiffs, and others to do so.

107.  On August 5, 2015, the Cypress Point Seller withdrew its offer to sell the Cypress
Point Property to HAS Capital and its affiliate as purchaser.

The St. Andrews Transaction

108.  On or about July 9, 2015, with HAS Capital’s and Wheeler’s approval, consent,

and assurance that HAS Capital and its affiliate as purchaser had control of and discretion over
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sufficient acquisition funds, Plaintiffs sent to the St. Andrews Seller and its broker Henry a
Letter of Intent (“the St. Andrews LOI”) for CK Property Managemeqt or an affiliated entity to
purchase from the St. Andrews Seller for $37,500,000 in cash “All the real property that
comprises [the St. Andrews Property], which includes 228 residential apartment units in addition
to all personal property and intangibles associated with the [P]roperty.”

109. On or about July 14, 2015, the St. Andrews Seller advised Plaintiffs that it had
included CK i’roperty Management and its affiliate as purchaser in the final selection process to
purchase the St. Andrews Property.

110. Thereafter, onJ uiy 14, 2015, the St. Andrews Seller sent to Kennedy the St.
Andrews buyer-questionnaire, seeking pertinent information about Plaintiffs and HAS Capital
and its affiliate as purchaser.

111. Between July 14, 2015 and July 15, 2015, after completing Plaintiffs’ portion of
the document, Kennedy forwarded the St. Andrews buyer—que-stionnaire to Wheeler and Peterson
for HAS Capital to completé questior.ls directed to it.

112. On 6r about July 15, 2015 and at all times relevant pertaining to the St. Andrews
transaction, Wheeler, Peterson, HAS Capital, Decator, and Decator LLC represented to the St.
Andrews Seller, Plaintiffs, and others in the St. Andrews buyer-questionnaire (collectively “the
St. Andrews Representations™) that:

a. “HAS Capital is a real estate ‘sub-advisor’ for a domestic investor[the Sovereign
Fund] with over $1 billion committed to real estate acquisitions throughout the
US. The equity allocation iS'discretioﬂary”;

b. “Prior to submission of best and final the equity funding on an all cash basis has

been approved™;
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c. “HAS Capital is currently closing on a 300+ unit apartment with its operating
partner, ChrisKen Group, LLC, in metro Atlanta and is negotiating the.purﬁhase
contract on another 300+ unit property in metro Atlanta™;

d. “[HAS Capital] will consummate the purchase of the [St. Andrews] [P]roperty
with 100% equity’™;

e. “The property is being acquired with 100% equity™;

f. “Stephen Wheeler and Adam Peterson from HAS Capital have reviewed the
underwriting and no other approvals‘a':e necessary.”

113.  On July 16, 2015, at the direction and on behalf of HAS Capital and its affiliate as
purchaser, Plaintiffs sent to Henry and the St. Andrews Seller a best-and-final offer (“the St.
Andrews BFO”) and the St. Andrews buyer-questionnaire, as completed by HAS Capital, to
.purchase the St. Andrews Property for $38,000,000 in cash.

114. Between July 16 and July 21, 2015, Henry informed Plaintiffs that the St.
Andrews Seller acknowledged receipt of the St. Andrews BFO.

The Specially Arranged July 21, 2015 Qualifying Conference Call

115.  OnJuly 17, 2015, Henry informed Plaintiffs, HAS Capital, Wheeler, and Peterson
that “The [St. Andrews Seller| would like to set up some interview calls before they make a
decision.”

116.  On July 20, 2015, Henry asked Kennedy if an interview call could take place on
July 21, 2015, at 10:30 AM EST.

117.  On July 20, 2015 at 11:44 AM, Kennedy asked Wheeler if an interview call with -

the St. Andrews Seller could take place on July 21, 2015 at 10:30 AM EST.
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118.  On July 20, 2015 at 11:48 AM, Wheeler told Kennedy, Decator, Peter_son, and
Mayer that “We have to move a couple of things on our schedule. Let me see what we can do. In
any case we will have a hard stop at 11:30 CS}.”

119.  On July 21, 2015, , Plaintiffs, HAS Capital, Wheeler, Peterson, Decator, the St.
Andrews Seller, Henry, and Apostolou, on behalf of BMO Harris, participated in a specially
qnanged qualifying telephone conference call (“the St. Andrews Qualifying Call™)

120. IDur'Lng the St. Andrews Qualifying Call, Decator stated to Plaintiffs-, the St.
Andrew.s Seller, ana others that BMO I-Iai_'ris possessed, on HAS Capital’s and its affiliate as
purchaser’s behalf, liquid and drawable funds necessary to consummate and close the
$.3 8,000,000 St. Andrews transaction, a-nd that the funds were available at HAS Capita}’s and
Wheeler’s discretion. -

]2]: Also during the St. Andrews Qualifying Call, Apoétoiou, on behalf of BMO |
Harris, stated to Plaintiffs, the St. Andrews Seller, and others-. that BMO Harris possessed, on

-HAS Capital’s and its affiliate as purchaser’s behalf, liquid and drawable funds necessary to
consummate and close the $38,000,000 St. Andrews transaction, and that the funds were
available at HAS Capital’s and Wheeler’s discretion.

122.  On July 22, 2015, HAS Capital and Wheeler directed Plaintiffs to increase the St.
Andrews BFO to $38,200,000.

| 123.  Thereafter, on July 22, 2015, Plaintiffs sent to the St. Andrews Seller a revised
best-and-final offer for HAS Capital and its affiliate as purchaser to purchase the St. Andrews

Property for $38,200,000 (“the Revised St. Andrews BFO™).
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124.  Shortly thereafter, the St. Andrews Seller informed Plaintiffs that the Revised St.
Andrews BFO was rejected and that HAS Capital and its affiliate as purchaser were not selected
as pufchaser of the St. Andrews Pr0perfy.

THE FRAUD UNCOVERED

125.  On or about July 29, 2015, Plaintiffs through Kennedy called Decator to ask why
the Balmoral and Cypress Point PSAs had not been executed and why funding of the transactions
had not begun.

| 126. During the July 29, 2015 telephone call with Decator, Decator told Kennedy that
there was no money available and there would be no money “because of the Chinese stock
market crash.”

127.  During the July 29,-2015 teléphone call to Decator, Kennedy asked “What does
the Chinese stock market have to do with a Mideast Sovereign Fund?”

128.  During the July 29, 2015 telephone call to Decator, Decator told Kennedy tflat the
“[Sover_eign Fund] was not a sovereignh fund from the Mideast,” and that it was not involved in
the funding of any of the prospective real estate acquisitions for the Balmoral, Cypress Point, and
St. Andrews Properties.

129.  Thereafter, on July 29, 2015, Peterson, on behalf of HAS Capital, confirmed to
Plaintiffs, through Kennedy, that there was no Sovereign Fund, in explaining to Kenneciy that
HAS Capital was “in fact trying to find an investor” for the Balmoral and Cypress Point
transactions.

130.  On July 30, 2015, HAS Capital, through Peterson, told Plaintiffs, through

Kennedy, that “I' spoke with [Bloom]. I explained that [Decator]’s co chairman [sic] just got back
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from Asia and we have a number of deals going on. He [Bloom] said we are not missing any
deadlines, just that his client is antsy. Everything is fine. Get some rest.

COUNT I - RACKETEER INFLUENCED AND CORRUPT ORGANIZATIONS ACT
(HAS Capital, Wheeler, Decator LLC, Decator, BMO Harris, Apostolou)

131.  Plaintiffs incorporate the allegations contained in paragrabhs 1-130 as if fully Set
forth herein.

132. At all times relevant, the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act
existed statutorily at 18 U.S.C. §§ 1961-68 (2012).

133.  Wheeler made the following false statements of fact to Plaintiffs, the Balmoral
Seller, Cypress Point Seller, St. Andrews Seller, and others (collectively “the Wheeler
Misrepresentations™):

a. The Balmoral Representations, as set forth-in paragraph 53 (a)-(f);

b. The Cypress Point Representations, as set forth in paragraph 85 (a)-(g);

c. The St. Andrews Representations, as set in paragraph 103 (aHt);

d. That the capital and 100% equity for the Balmoral, Cypress Point, and St.
Andrews real estate transactions was to come from a single [domestic] investor
through the Sovereign Fund;

e. That thé Sovereign Fund’s assets and capital were under HAS Capital’s
possession, control, and discretion through BMO Harris and Apostolou to fund
the Balmoral, Cypress Point, and St. Andrews real estate transactions for cash
with 100% equity;

1. That the “[Sovereign Fund’s] appetite for large properties was unlimited,” it had

“unlimited dollars to invest,” and it desired to consummate multi-million dollar
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QQ

134,

real estate vaui.sitions of properties of 300 units or more, ranging in price from
$30,000,000 to $1 00,000,000.; |

That on Apri.l 13,2015, as of 9:56 AM, Wheeler would have $50,000,000
available within three weeks;

That_dn June 9, 2015, HAS Capital pould confirm the availability of funds in
‘order to consummate the Balmoral transaction during the requisite Balmoral
Canlibing Lol us sebtortiin peragtanhs 6160

That sufficient capital existed for HAS Capital and its affiliate as purchaser to pay
the purchase price plus associated closing costs and to commence necessary
improvements for the Balrnorz;nl, Cypress Point, and St. Andrews Properties; and
That BMO Harris pos'sess'ed, on HAS Capital’s and its affiliate as purchaser’s
behalf, liquid and drawable funds and capital to purchase with 100% équity the
Balmoral, Cypress Point, and St. Andrews Properties, and that the funds were
available at HAS Capital’s and Wheeler’s discretion.

Wheeler knew or believed the Wheeler Misrepresentations to be false at the times

he made them to Plaintiffs, the Balmoral Seller, Cypress Point Seller, St. Andrews Seller, and

others.

135.

Decator made the following false statements of fact to Plaintiffs, the Balmoral

Seller, Cypress Point Seller, St. Andrews Seller, and others (collectively “the Decator

Misrepresentations™):

a. The Balmoral Representations, as set forth in paragraph 53 (a)-(f);

b. The Cypress Point Representations, as set forth in paragraph 85 (a)-(g);

c. The St. Andrews Representations, as set in paragraph 103 (a)—(f);
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d. That the capital and 100% equity for.the Balmoral, Cypress Point, and St.
Andrews real estate transactions was to come from a single [domestic] investor
through the. Sovereign Fund;

e.- That the Sovereign Fund’s asséts'and capital were under HAS Capital’s
possession, control, and diSCrCtEOI-lI through BMO Harris and Apostolou to fund
the Balmoral, Cypress Point, and St. Andrews real estate transactions for cash
with 100% equity;

f.  That the “[Sovereign Fund’s] appetite for large properties was unlimited,” it had
“unlimited _dollars to invest,” and it desired to consummate multi-million dollar
real estate acquisitions of properties of 300 units or-more, ranging in price from
$30,000,000 to $100,000,000;

g. That on June 9, 201-5, HAS Capitai could confirm the availability of funds in
order to cqnsnmmate the Balmoral transaction during the requisite Balmoral
Qualifying Call, as set forth in paragraphs 61-63;

h. That sufficient capital existed for HAS Capital and its affiliate as purchaser to pay
the purchase price plus associated closing costs and to commence necessary
improvements for the Balmoral, Cypress Point, and St. Andrews Properties; and

i. That BMO Harris possessed, on HAS Capital’s and its affiliate as purchaser’s
behalf, liquid and drawable funds and capital to purchase with 100% equity the
Balmoral, Cypress Point, and St. Andrews Properties, and that the funds were

available at HAS Capital’s and Wheeler’s discretion.
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136.  Decator knew or believed the Decator Misrepresentations fo be false at the times
he made them to Plaintiffs, the Balmoral ‘Seller, Cypress Point .Sellet, St. Andrews Seller, and
others.

137. Apostolou made the following false statements of fact to Plaintiffs, the Balmoral
Seller, Cypress Point Seller, St. Andrews Seller, and others (collectively “the BMO
Misrepresentations™):

a. That P;MO Harris possessed, on HAS Capital’s and its affiliate as purchaser’s
Bkl o il draalile fusle ad Gagial ts purchage with 100% é.qui_ty the
ﬁalmoral, Cypress Point, and St. Andrews Properties, and that the funds were
available at HAS Capital’s and Wheeier’s discretion; and- |

b. That cash needed for-the Cypress Point transaction “was only an infinitesimal
amount of the whole [amount in the Sovereign Fund]” available under HAS
Capital’s and Wheeler’s discretion.

138.  Apostolou knew or believed the BMO Misrepresentations to be false at the times

“he made them to Plaintiffs, the Balmoral Seller, Cypress Point Seller, St. Andrews Seller, and

others.

139.  Wheeler, HAS Capital, Decator, Decator LLC, Apostolou, and BMO Harris
collaborated with the purpose, in whole or in part, to defraud, misrepresent, or otherwise mislead
Plaintiffs, the Balmoral Seller, the Cypress Point Seller, the St. Andrews Seller, and others to
believe that HAS Capital and Wheeler had sufficient capital-discretion and ability to fund with.
100% equity the Balmoral, Cypress Po'mt, and St. Andrews real estaie transactions using cash

from the Sovereign Fund.
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140. Allor part of Defendants’ collaboration constituted an “enterprise” under 18
US.C. §1961(4).

: 141. Wﬁeeler,_HAS Capital, Decator, Decator LLC, BMO Harris, and Apostolou used
wires for interstate telephone calls and electronic communications.to communicate thé Wheeler,
Decator, and BMO Misrepresentations to Plaintiffs with the intent to defraud them through
scheme or artifice in relation to the Balmoral, Cypress Point, and St. Andrews real estate
transactions, and to induce Plaintiffs to:

a. Execute the Agreement between HAS Capital and Plaintiffs and their affiliates;

b. Provide substantial expertise, skill, knowledge, effort, Iabor, time, and other
resources to facilitate the Balmoral, Cypress Point, and St. Andrews real estate
n@sac(ions as HAS Capital’s and the Sovereign Fund’s operating partners;

¢. Provide Plaintiffs’ brokerage contacts and Plaintiffs’ reputation with those
contacts to ﬁn_d, underwrite, and otherwise facilitate real estate transactions for
HAS Capital’s benefit and its affiliate as purchaser’s benefit; and

d. Perform under the Agreement between HAS Capital aﬁdPlaintjﬂ‘s and their
affiliates.

142.  Wheeler, HAS Capital, Decator, Decator LLC, BMO Harris, and Aposfolou used

_wires for interstate telephone calls and electronic communications to communicate the Wheeler,

Decator, and BMO Misrepresentations to Plaintiffs and the Balmoral and Cypress Point Scllers
with the intent to defraud them through scheme or artifice in relation to the Balmoral and

Cypress Point real estate transactions, and. to induce them to:
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a.  Select HAS Capital and its affiliate as purchaser to participate in the best-and-
 final round and Qualifying Calls for the Balmoral and Cypress Point transactions;
and
| b. Select HAS Capita} and its affiliate as purchaser to buy the Balmoral Property and |
‘Cypress Point Property.
14_3; Whee]_er, HAS Capital, Decatof, Decator LLC, BMO Harris, and Apostolou used
;vires for interstate telephone calls and electronic communications to communicate the Wheeler,
Decator, and BMO Misrepresentations to Plaintiffs and the St. Andrews Seller with the intent to
defraud them through scheme or artifice in relation to the St. Andrews real estate transaction, and
t.(-> inducc _it_ to: |
a.. Select HAS Capital and its affiliate as purchaser to participate in the St. Andrews
best-and-final offer round for the St. Andrews transaction; and
b. Select HAS Capital and its affiliate as purchaser to participate in the St. Andrews
Qualifying Call.
144, I Plaintiffs, the Balmoral Seller, the Cypress Point Seller, and the St. Ancirews
Seller were induced to act, and did act, in all of the manners enumerated in paragraphs 141-143.
145. Defendants’ foregoing conduct constituted wire fraud under 18 U.S.C. § 1343.
-146.  Defendants’ wire fraud included the use of interstate telephone and electronic
communications, and occprre:d on more than one occasion throughout 2015, including:
a. The Wheeler Misrepresentations;
b. The Decator Misrepresentations;

c. The BMO Misrepresentations;
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d. Communications had during the Balmoral Qualifying Call, as set forth in
paragraphs 61-63;

e. Communications had during the Cypress Point Qualifying Call, as set forth in
paragraphs 88-90; and |

f. Communications had during.the St. Andrews Qualifying Call, as set forth in
paragraphs 119-121.

147. Defendants’ conduct affected at least five victims with distinct injuries to each
victim, in four separate schemes, carrying with it an implicit threat of continued criminal activity
in the future. |

148. Defendants’ offenses of wire fraud and the continued threat ofwire fraud
constituted a “pattern of racketeering activity” under 18 U.S.C. § 1961(5).

149.. Defendants’ conduct violated 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c).

150. As adirect and proximate result of Defendants’ enterprise and pattern of
racketeering activity, Plaintiffs were damage:d in the following ways:

a. Lost opportunities with other Ehvesto rs to act as those investors’ operating
partners;

b. Lost reputation and goodwill among Plaintiffs’ brokerage contacts;

c. Loss of substantial costs commi_ﬁed to finding the properties, underwriting,
performing due diligence, and other costs in connection with the Balmoral,
Cypress Point, and St. Andrews real estate transdctions; and

d. Loss of fees, including: Acquisition Fee, Ongoing Property Management Fee,

Construction Management Fee, Disposition Fee, and Profit Participation Fee.
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WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray that judgment be entered in their favor and against '.
Wheeler, HAS Cﬁpital, Decator LLC, -Decator, BMO Harris, and Apostolou, and that Plaintiffs
be awarded treble damages in an amount exceeding $50,000, plus costs of this suit and
.rea'sonable attorney’s fees pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c).

- C OUNT I1 - FRAUDULENT MISREPRESENTATION
(HAS Capital) '

151. Plaintiffs incorporate the allegations contained in paragraphs 1-130 and 133136
as if fully set forth herein. - ”
152. In making the Wheeler and Decator Misrepresentations, Wheeler and Dec;ator
acted as agents of HAS Capital with apparent and actual authority.
153. Through the Wheeler and Decator Misrepresentations, Wheeler, Decator, and
other HAS Capital agents or erﬁpi oyee; intended to induce Plaintiffs to act in the following
ways:
‘4. To execute the Agreement between HAS Capital and Plaintiffs and their affiliates; -
- b. To provide substantial expertise, skill, knowledge, effort, labor, time, and other
resources to facilitate the Balmoral, Cypress Point, and St. Andrews real estate
transactions as HAS Capital’s and its affiliates as purchasers’ operating partners;
c. To use Plaintiffs’ brokerage contacts and Plaintiffs’ reputation with those contacts
to find, underwrite, and otherwise facilitate real estate a@dsitions for HAS
Capital’s benefit and its affiliates as purchasers’ benefit; and
d. To perform under the Agreement between HAS Capital and Plaintiffs and their
affiliates.
154. Plaintiffs justifia'bly relied on the Wheeler and Decator Misrepresentations (o their

detriment.
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155.

But for the Wheeler and Decator Misrepresentations, Plaintiffs would not have

done the following:

a. Executed the Agreement between HAS Capital and Plaintiffs and their affiliates;

_b. Provided substantial expertise, skill, knowledge, effort, labor, time, and other

C.

resources to facilitate the Balmoral, Cypress Point, and St. Andrews real estate
transactions as HAS Capital’s and its afﬁli_ates as purchasers’ operating partners;
Used Plaintiffs’ brokerage contacts and Plaintiffs’ reputation with those contacts
to find, underwrite, and otherwise facilitate real estate transaciions for HAS

Capital’s benefit and its affiliates as purchasers’ benefit; and

d. Performed under the Agreement between HAS Capital and Plaintiffs and their

156.

affiliates.

As a direct and proximate result of the Wheeler and Decator Misrepresentations

and Plaintiffs’ detrimental reliance on them, Plaintiffs have been damaged in the following ways:

a. Lost opportunities with other investors to act as those investors’ operating

partners;

b. Lost reputation and goodwill among Plaintiffs’ brokerage contacts;

c. Loss of substantial costs committed to finding the properties, underwri.ting,

performing due diligence, and other costs in connection with the Balmoral,

Cypress Point, and St. Andrews real estate transactions; and

d. Loss of fees, including: Acquisition Fee, Ongoing Property Management Fee,

Construction Management Fee, Disposition Fee, and Profit Participation Fée.
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WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray that judgfnent be entered in their favor and against HAS
Capital, and that Plaintiffs be awarded compensatory damages in an amount exceeding $50,000,
plus costs of this suit and any other relief this Court deems just and réasonable-

COUNT I - FRAUDULENT MISREPRESENTATION
- (Wheeler)

. 157. Plaintiffs incorporate the allegations contained in paragraphs 1—-130, 133134,

. and 152-156 as if fully set forth herein.
158.  In making the Wheeler Misrepresentations, if Wheeler did not act as an agent of
HAS Capital with apparent and actual authority, then he acted in an individual capacity..
WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray that judgment be entered in their favor and against
Wheeler, and that P!aintiffs be awarded compensatory damages in an amount exceeding $50,000,
plus costs of this suit and any other relief this Court deems just and reasonable.

COUNT IV - FRAUDULENT MISREPRESENTATION
(Decator LLC)

159.  Plaintiffs incorporate the allegations contained in paragraphs 1-130, 135-136,
and 152156 as if fully set forth herein.

160. In making the Decator Misrepresentations, Decator acted as an agent of Decator
LLC with apparent and actual authority.

WHEREFORE, Pla'intiffs pray that judgment be entered in their favor and against
“Decator LLC, and that Plaintiffs be awarded compensatory damages in an amount exceeding
'$50,000, plus costs of this suit and any other relief this Court deems just and reasonable.

COUNT V- FRAUDULENT MISREPRESENTATION
(Decator)

161.  Plaintiffs incorporate the allegations contained in ﬁqragraphs 1-130, 135-136,

and 152156 as if fully set forth herein.
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162.  In making the Decator Misrepresentations, if Decator did nc;t act as an agént of
HAS Capital and Decator LLC with apparent and actual authority, t_hen he acted in an individual ‘
‘capacity.

\;VHEREF ORE, f’iain_tiffs pray that judgment be entered in their favor and against

Decator, and that Plaintiffs be awarded compensatory damages in an amount exceeding $50,000,

plus costs of this suit and any other relief this Court deems just and reasonable. .

COUNT VI - FRAUDULENT MISREPRESENTATION
(BMO Harris)

163. Plaintiffs incorpofate the allegations contained in paragraphs 1-130 and 137138
“as if fully set forth herein.

164. At all times relevant, BMO Harris was in the business of supplying information
for the guidance of others in business transactions.

165. At all times relevant, BMO Harris’s business of supplying information for the
guidance of others in bﬁsiness transactions included verifying the existence of funds in its
posslession on a third-party’s behalf for the participation in and consummation of real estate
transactions.

166. In making the BMO Misrepresentations, Apostolou acted as an agent of BMO
Harris with apparent and actual authority.

167.  In making the BMO Misrepresentati'ons, Apostolou acted in the course of his
employment with BMO Harris and in furtherance of the business of BMO Harris.

168.. Plaintiffs justifiably relied on the BMO Misrepresentations to their detriment.

169.  Through the BMO Misrepresentations, Apostolou intended to induce Plaintiffs

and the Balmoral, Cypress Point, and St. Andrews Sellers to act in the following ways:
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a “Teo proyide substantial expertise, skill, knowledge, effort, labor, time, and other
" resources to facilitate the Balmoral, Cypress Point, and St. Andrews real estate
transactions as HAS Capital’s and the Sovereign Fund’s operating partners;

b. To use Plaintiffs” brokerage contacts and Plaintiffs’ reputation with those contacts
to find, underwrite, and otherwise facilitate real estate acqui'sitions for HAS
Capital’s bcncﬁt and the Sovereign Fund’s benefit; and

c. To perform _uhder the Agreement between HAS Capital and Plaintiffs and their
affiliates. _

170.  But for the BMO Misrepreséntations, Plaintiffs would not have acted in the
followixllg-manners:

a. Provided substantial expertise, skill, knowledge, effort, labor, time, and other
resources to fapilitate the Balmoral, Cypress Point, and St. Andrews real estate
trans;actions as HAS Capital’s and its affiliates as purchasers’ operating partners;

b. Used Plaintiffs’ blrokerage contacts and Plaintiffs’ reputation with those contacts
to find, underwrite, and otherwise facilitate real estate transactions for HAS
Capital’s benefit and its affiliates as purchasers’ benefit; and

c. Performed under the Agreement bet.ween HAS Capital and Plaintiffs and their
affiliates.

171. . As adirect and proximate result of the BMO Misrepresentations and Plaintiffs’
detrimental reliance on them, Plaintiffs have been damaged in the following ways:

a. Lost opportunities with other investors to act as those investors’ operating

| partners;

b. Lost reputation and goodwill among Plaintiffs’ brokerage contacts;
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c. Loss of substantial costs committed to finding the properties, underwriting,
performing due diligence;'and othlér costs in connection with the Balmoral,
‘Cypress Point, and St. Andrews real estate iransactions; and
. d. Loss of fees, including: Acquisition Fee, Ongoing Property Management Fee,
Construction Management Fee, Disposition Fee, and Profit Participation Fee.
WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray that judgment be entered in their favor and against BMO
Harris, é.nd that Plaintiffs be awarded compensatory damages in an amount exceeding $50,000,
plus costs of this suit and any other relief this Court deems just and reasonable. |

COUNT VII - FRAUDULENT MISREPRESENTATION
(Apostolou)

172. * Plaintiffs incorporate the allegations contained in paragraphs 1-130, 137-138,

and 164171 as if fully set forth herein.
173. In making the BMO Misrepresentations, if Apostolou did not act as an agent of
BMO Harris with apparent and actual authority, then he acted in an individual capacity.
WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray that judgm_énl be entered in their favor and against
Apostolou, and that Plaintiffs be awarded compensatory damages in an amount exceeding
_SS_0,000, plus costs ‘of this suii and any.-other relief this Court deems just and reasonable.

COUNT VIII - NEGLIGENT MISREPRESENTATION
(HAS Capital)

174.  Plaintiffs incorporate the allegations contained in paragraphs 1-130, 133, 135,

and 152-156 as if fully set forth herein.
175. - The Agreement provided that HAS Capital had a duty to “participate on
[qualifying telephone calls with prospective sellers] and provide sufficient evidence of capital to

close and discretion as required.”
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176. HAS Capital, through Wheeler and Decator owed a duty to Plaintiffs to
communicaté accurate information regarding the existenée and extent of the capital and equity
under HAS Capital’s discretion and control for the purpose of initiating, participating in, and
consummating the Balmoral, Cypress Point, and St. Andrews re-al estate transactions. -

177. - Disregarding said duty, %eelm and Decator, on behalf of HAS Capital,
negligenﬂy and carelessly made the Wheeler and Decator Misrepresentations.-

WHEREFORE, Plaintifis pray fhat judgment bs entered iy their favor andagainst HAS:
Capital, and that Plaintiffs be awarded compensatory damages in an amount exceeding $50,000,
plus costs of this suit and any other relief this Court deems just and reasonable.

COUNT IX —NEGLIGENT MISREPRESENTATION
{(Wheeler)

178.  Plaintiffs incorporate the allegations contained in paragraphs 1-130, 133, 152—

156, and 158 as if fully set forth herein.

179. Wheeler owed a duty to Plaintiffs to communicate accurate information regarding
thg existence and extent of the capital and equity under HAS Capital’s and his discretion and
control for the purpose of initiating, participating in, and consummating the Balmoral, Cypress .
Point, and St. Andrews real estate. transactions.

180. Disregarding said duty, Wheeler negligently and carelessly made the Wheeler
Misrepresentations.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray that judgment be entered in their favor and against

Wheeler, and that Plaintiffs be awarded compensatory damages in an amount exceeding $50,000,

plus costs of this suit and any other relief this Court deems just and reasonable.
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COUNT X - NEGLIGENT MISREPRESENTATION
(Decator LLC)

181.  Plaintiffs incorporaté the allegations contained in paragraphs 1-130, 13.5, 152-
156, and 160 as if fully set forth herein. |

182.  Decator LLC, through Decator, owed a duty to Plaintiffs to corrm"xunjcate accurate
~ information regarding the existence and extent of the capital and equity under HAS Capital’s
discretion and control for the purpose of initiating, participating in, .and consummating the
Balmoral, Cypress Point, and St. Andrews real estate transactions.

183. Disregarding said duty, Decator, on behalf of Decator LLC, ncghgently and
careléssly made the Decator Misrepresentations.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray that judgment be entered in their favor and against -
becator LLC, and that Plaintiffs be awarded compensatory damages in an amount exceeding
$50,000, plus costs of this suit and any other relief this Court deems just and reasonable.

COUNT XI - NEGLIGENT MISREPRESENTATION
(Decator)

184.  Plaintiffs inéorporate the allegations contained in paragraphs 1-130, 135, 152~

156, and 162 as if fully set forth herein.

185.  Decator owed a duty to Plaintiffs to communicate accurate information regarding
the existence and extent of the capital and equity under HAS Capital’s discretion and control for
the purpose of initiating, participating in, and consummating the Balmoral, Cypress Point, and
St. Andrews real estate transactions.

186. Disregarding said duty, Decator negligently and carelessly made the Decator

Misrepresentations.
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WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray that judgment be entered in their favor and against
‘Decator, and that Plaintiffs be awarded compensatory damages in an amount exceeding $50,000,
plus costs of this suit and any other relief this Court deems just and reasonable.

COUNT XII - NEGLIGENT MISREPRESENTATION
(BMO Harris) -

187." Plaintiffs incorporate the allegations contained in paragraphs 1-130, 137, and:

164171 as if fully set forth herein.

188.. BMO Harris, by its actual and apparent agent Apostolou, owed a duty to Plaintiffs
to commgnicate accurate ir;formation regarding the existence and extent of the capital and assets
under BMO Han‘is’s control that was drawable and ave;ilab[e to HAS Capital and Wheeler for
the purpose of initiating, participating in, and consummating the Balmoral, Cypress Point, and
St. Andrews real estate transactions.

189.  Disregarding said duty, Apostolou, on behalf of BMO Harris, negligently and
carelessly made the BMO Misrepresentations.

_ WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray that judgment be entered in their favor and against BMO
Harris, and that Plaintiffs be a\.Nardcd compensatory damag.es'm an amount exceeding $50,000,
plus costs of this suit and any other relief this Court déems just and reasonable.

COUNT XIII - NEGLIGENT MISREPRESENTATION
{Apostolou) -

190. - Plaintiffs incorporate the allegations contained in paragraphs 1-130, 137, 164-

171, and 173 as if fully set forth herein.
191. At all times relevant, Apostolou was in the business of supplying information for

the guidance of others in business transactions.
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192.  Atall times relevant, Apostolou’s business of supplying information for the
guidance of others in business transactions iﬁcluded verifying the existence of funds in its
possession on a ﬂ]ird-party’s behalf for the consummation of real estate transactions.

193.  Apostolou owed a duty to Plaintiffs to.communicate accurate information
regarding the existence and extent of the capital and assets under BMO IHarris’s control that were
drawable and available to HAS Capital and Wheeler for the purpose of paﬁic ipating in and -
consummating the Balmoral, Cypfess Point, and St. Andrews real estate transactions.

194.  Disregarding said dut.y, Apostolou negligent]y and carelessly madé:_the BMO
Misrepresentations.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray that judgment be entered in their favor and against
Apostolou, and that Plaintiffs be awarded compensatory damages in an amount exceeding
$50,000, plus costs of this suit and any other relief this Court deems just and reasonable.

COUNT XIV — NEGLIGENT SUPERVISION
(BMO Harris)

195.  Plaintiffs incorporate the allegétions contained in paragraphs 1-130, 137-138,

164—171, and 188189 as if fully set forth herein.

196. At all times and dates relev;ant'to the Balmoral Qualifying Call, Cypress Point
Qualifying Call, and St. Andrews Qualifying Call, Apostolou was employed by BMO Harris.

197.  Apostolou’s BMO Misrepresentations and pattern of misconduct created a
reasonably foreseeable danger to third parties, including Plaintiffs.

198.  Because of Apostolou’s aforementioned pattern of mi s'co_nduct during the
Balmoral, Cypress Point, and St. Andrews Qualifying Calls, BMO Harris knew of should have

known of Apostolou’s particular unfitness for his position of employment at BMO Harris.
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199. -~ Because of Apos_tdloﬁ’s‘patfem'of misconduct during the Qualifying Calls,-BMO |
Harris knew or shoufd have known that Apostolou’s employment with BMO Harris created a_ -
dange;r of harm to th_ird persons, including Plaintiffs:
200." BMO Harris had a duty to exercise reasonable care in training, ‘supervising,
limiting, restraining, maintaining, or otherwise regulating Apostolou’s conduct such that he
. would not create a danger of harm to third persons, inéluding Plaintiffs.
201. Disregarding said duties, BMO Harris failed to.safeguard third parties, including
Plainﬂtib;'f'rom harm caused by Apostolou, through one or more of the followi ng acts or _
| omissions by BMO Harris:l ‘
a. Failing to adequately s_upcrvis_c Apostolou;
b. F_ailiné to timely discover misconduct by Apostolou;
. l-'aiimg to implement policies, rules, or other institutional mechanisms by which
to timely detect misconduct by Apostolou;
; d.l Failing to instruct Apostolou that the BMO Misrepresentations were inappropriate
: ?onducl in the course of his employment; .
e. Failing to discipline Apostolou for the aforementioned pattern of misconduct; and
f.  Failing to discharge Apostolou from employment with BMO Harris.
202. Asa direc; and proximate result of the negligent acts or omissions by BMO
Harris, Apostolou’s conduct duri_ng his course of employment at BMO Harris caused Plaintiffs to
be damagéd in the followi.ng wéys:
: a. Lost opportunities with other investors to act as those investors’ operating
partners;

b. Lost reputation and goodwill among Plaintiffs” brokerage contacts;
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c. Loss of substantial costs committed to finding the properties, uﬁderwriting,
performing due diligence, and other costs in connection with the Balmoral,
Cypress Point, and St. Andrews real estate transactions: and -
d. Loss of fees, including: Acquisition Fee, Ongoing Property Management Fee,
_ Construction Management Fee, Disposition Fee, and Profit Participation Fee.
WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray that judgrncﬁt be entered in their favor-and against .BM_O
Harris, and that Plaintiffs be awarded compensatory damages in an amount exceeding $50,000,

plus costs of this suit and any other relief this Court deems just and reasonable.

COUNT XV — BREACH OF CONTRACT
_ (HAS Capital)

203.  Plaintiffs incorporate the .allegationé contained in paragraphs 1-130, 133136,
152-156, and 175-177 as if fully set forth herein.

204. The Agreement between HAS Capital and Plaintiffs is attached as Exhibit A.

205. On April 18, 2015, Plaintiffs anticipated acting as the operating partners of HAS
Capital and its affiliates as purchasers of multi-million dollar real estate acquisitions of 300 units
or more, ranging in price from $30,000,000 to $100,000,000.

206. Under the Agreement, HAS Capital agreed to be solely responsible for “all
acquisition or refinancing third—parfy costs, on an HAS approved property, whether such
property closes or not.”

207. The aforementioned out-of-pocket costs (“the Costs”) to Plaintiffs included, but
were not limited to, “legal, accounting, engincering, lender fees, title fees, and due diligence
expénses.’.’ |

208. HAS Capital agreed to “pay [the Costs] on a timely basis.”
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209. HAS Capital agreed to “participate on [qualifying telephone éalls with
prospective sellers] and provide sufficient evidence of capital to close and discretion as required”
in preparing buyer-questionnaires.

.210. . HAS Capital had a contractual duty to represent true, sufficient evidence of
capital fo close and discretion as required in preparing buyer-questionnaires and during the
Balmoral, Cypress Point, and St. Andrews Qualifying Calls.

211. | The Agreement between HAS Capital and Plaintiffs contained the Costs aﬁd, |
Compensation to which Plaintiffs were entit!éd in of any given real estate_transaétion.

212.  Under the Agreement, Plaintiffs anticipated and expec“ted payment of
ComPensation and Costs, where the Compensation would bé calculated pu;suant to an amount
substantial ly similar to the agreed purchase prices for the Balmoral and Cypress Point Properties.

213: - During.the Balmoral, Cypress Point, and St.‘Andrews Qualifying Calls, and

within the Balmoral, Cypress Point, and St. Andrews buyer-questionnaires, HAS Capital

represented that it had sufficient liquid capital to consummate the transactions therein

contemplated.

214. HAS Capital’s representations regarding sufficient liquid capital were false.

215.  HAS Capital, through its actual and apparent agents Wheeler, Decator, and/or
Peterson knew or should have known those statements were false.

v 2 1.6. HAS Capital’s continuing and false representations constituted a fnaterial breach

of the Agreement between HAS Capital and Plaintiffs.

217.- On Augugt 12, 2015 at 10:41 AM, Mayer demanded payment by HAS Capital of
the Costs that were expeﬁded in Plaintiffs” performance in contemplation of the Agreement for

the Balmoral and Cypress Point transactions.
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218.  On or about Aligust 12, 2015, Mayer submitted an invoice to HAS Capital for

Plaintiffs” Costs of $96,778.79, exclusive of the Compensation.

219. HAS Capital. has wrongfully refused to pay all $96,778.79 in Costs to Plaintiffs,

exclusive of the Compensation.

220. HAS Capital’s wrongful refusal to perform under the Agreement and to.pay to

Plaintiffs the Costs of $96,778.79 constituted a material breach of the Agreement between HAS

‘Capital and Plaintiffs.

221.  Plaintiffs performed and satisfied all their obligations precedent as required by the

Agreement.

. 222,  Asadirect and proximate result of HAS Capital’s refusal to pay the $96,778.79

Costs, Plaintiffs are entitled to payment of the Costs they expended in performance of the

Agreement for the Balmoral and Cypress Point transactions.

223.  As adirect and proximate result of HAS Capital’s breach of contract and failure

to consummate the Balmoral and Cypress Point transactions to closing, Plaintiffs lost the benefits
of the Agreement, the profits to be made under the Agreement, and their Costs under the

Agreement.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray that judgment be entered in their favor and against HAS

Capital, and that Plaintiffs be awarded compensatory damages in an amount exceeding $50,000,

plus costs of this suit and any other relief this Court deems just and reasonable.

COUNT XVI - QUANTUM MERUIT
(HAS Capital)

224. Pleading in the alternative, assuming the absence of a contract between HAS

Capital and Plaintiffs, Plaintiffs incorporate the allegations contained in paragraphs 1-44 and

49-130 as if fully set forth herein.
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‘Between March 5, 2012 and August 2015, Plaintiffs provided services for the

benefit of HAS Capital and its affiliates as purchasers of the Balmoral, Cypress Point, and St.

Andrews Properties.

226.

227.

228.
gratuitously.

229

230.

The services included, but were not limited to:

Providing substantial expeﬁise, skill, knowledge, effort, labor, time, and other
resources to facilitate real estate transactions as HAS Capital’s and its affiliates as
purchasers.’ opérating partners; and

Using Plaintiffs’ -b_rokerége contacts anci Plaintiffs’ reputation with those contacts
to find, underwrite, and otherwise facilitate real estate acquisitions for HAS

Capital’;.s and its affiliates as purchasers’ benefit.

Plaintiffs’ services for the benefit of HAS Capital were not rendered gratuitously.

HAS Capital knew or should have known that such services were not rendered

HAS Capital accepted the services without objection.

If, at the time such services were rendered by Plaintiffs for the benefit of HAS

Capital, no enforceable contract or agreement existed that provided for the payment of some or

all of such services, then Plaintiffs are entitled to the reasonable value of services rendered.

231

Because no enforceable contract or agreement existed that provided for the

payment of some or all of such services, Plaintiffs are entitled to the reasonable value of services

rendered.

232,

On August 12, 2015 at 10:41 AM, Plaintiffs demanded payment by HAS Capital

of the costs that Plaintiffs expended for HAS Capital’s benefit, including its benefit in the

Balmoral and Cypress Point transactions.
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233.  HAS Capital refused to pay any sum to Plaintiffs for the services rendered for

HAS Capital’s benefit.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray that judgment be entered in their favor and against HAS

Capital, and that Plaintiffs be awarded compensatory damages in an amount exceeding $50,000,

‘plus costs of this suit and any other relief this Court deems just and reasonable.

Respectfully submitted,

AVE Y y
J INE L. STEVENS

Atty. No. 47864

Stevens Law Group, Attorneys for Plaintiff
432 North Clark Street - Suite 202
Chicago, Illinois 60654

(312) 836-0303 -
istevens(@stevenslawpc.com

FA\ChrisKen 990'Complaint - 2016.08.09.docx
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OPERATING PARTNERSHIP

and

MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT

by and between

HAS CAPITAL, LLC
an Illinois limited liability company,
as Owner

and

THE CHRISKEN GROUP and its affiliate
CK PROPERTY MANAGEMENT, LLC,
an [llinois limited liability company,
as Manager

Date: as of April 18, 2015

DI376804 PLAINTIFF’'S

EXE'IT
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OPERATING PARTNERSHIP AND MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT

THIS OPERATING PARTNERSHIP AND MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT (this
“Agreement” is made as of April 18, 2015, by and between HAS Capital, LLC, an Lilirois
limited liability company (“HAS"), and The ChrisKen Group (together with its affiliates,
“CKG”) for certain services more particularly described below with the objective of acquiring
multifamily properties.
RECITALS
* CKG agrees to provide the services further described as an HAS Operating Partner.

FURTHERMORE properties sourced by CKG once acquired will then be managed by CK
Property Management, LLC, an affiliate of CKG (“Manager™), per a separaie Property
Management Agreements for each such property acquired.

AGREEMENT

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the covenants herein contained and other good
and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged and
confessed, the parties agree as follows:

The ChrisKen Group (“CKG”) agrees to provide the following services:

CKG’s respongibilities will include identifying, underwriting, negotiating in tandem with HAS,
and providing whatever assistance HAS requires, as Buyer. Upon each property closing,
Manager will provide property site-management pursuant to a Management Agreement to be
negotiated by HAS and Manager.

CKG responsibilities will include:

1. Sourcing multifamily acquisition properties for HAS:
a. CKG will utilize its broker contacts throughout the US in identifying properties
that meet the investment criteria as defined by HAS.
b. Properties identified will either be available as “off-market”, or on an open-bid
basis.
2. Underwriting:
a. CKG will provide an Initial Financial Underwriting (“Initial Underwriting™) at the
time a property is submitted to HAS.
b. Ifthe Initial Underwriting is accepted by HAS, CKG will physically inspect the
property at the earliest possible date and on a timely basis report the results to
HAS.
c. Based on the inspection, CKG will reconfirm or modify assumptions made in the
Initial Underwriting and provide results to HAS.
2
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1. CKG will modify any underwriting assumptions as requested by HAS
Offering Stage:

a. In advance of a “call for offers” CKG and HAS will agree on price and terms to
be included in an initial non-binding LOI, which will be prepared by CKG with
review and approval by HAS.

b. CKG in conjunction with HAS will be responsible for property negotiations:

i. If a “qualifying” call between the Seller and HAS as Buyer is required,
CKG will be responsible for satisfying the underwriting assumptions as
may be requested by the Seller. HAS will participate on the call and
provide sufficient evidence of capital to close and discretion as required.
CKG will provide all HAS requested services necessary to secure mortgage debt for a
property acquired and will further provide required lender reports as necessary.

. Once property is acquired, operational reporting to HAS will be provided by Manager, as

further detailed in the Management Agreement.

. Property Sale.
a. From time to time, CKG will provide as requested sefl/hold dations.
IfHAS elects to sell a property, HAS will provide sufficient advance notice to
Manager so proper disposition protocols can be made.
Compensation. (See Exhibit A attached)

Property Acquisition Expense Recovery:
a. CKG will be responsible for the cost of vetting property for submission to HAS,
to include:
i. Broker communications, inclusive of face-to-face meetings. |
ii. CKG will be responsible for all its costs associated with site inspections.
b. In the event reimbursement is due CKG, such reimbursement, as approved by
HAS, will come from closing proceeds.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, all acquisition or refinancing third-party costs, on an
HAS approved property, whether such property closes or not are the sole responsibility of
HAS. These include, but are not limited to: legal, accounting, engineering, lender fees,
title fees and due diligence expenses. HAS further agrees to pay such costs on a timely
basis.

(SIGNATURES ON NEXT PAGE)
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed the Agreement on the day and year herein
first above written.

OPERATING PARTNERSHIP HAS CK V3 (1)04
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EXHIBIT A
COMPENSATION

To be determined on a property-by-property basis; provided that, for the purpose of determining
the IRR Preference hurdle:

Effective Net Profits. As used herein, the term "Effective Net Profits” means, as to any
period, the Gross Receipts from the Project less all operating, maintenance, and leasing expenses
(including all management fees and all reimbursable expenses) and all loan payments, if any.

Internal Rate of Return. As used herein, the term "Internal Rate of Return" means, as of
any date of calculation, the internal rate of return (expressed as a percentage) on the aggregate
equity investment amount of HAS, as determined by HAS in its reasonable discretion. In
determining the Internal Rate of Return, the following shall apply:

1. all calculations shall be based upon the actual dates on which HAS has made
equity investments into the Project (and the amount thereof) and the actual dates on which
distributions to HAS of net profits from the Project are delivered to HAS;

(a)  all distribution amounts to HAS shall be based on the amount of the gross
distribution prior to any withholding or deduction for any federal, state or local income
tax requirements; and

(b) all calculations shall employ the "XIRR" function (with quarterly
compounding) as calculated in Microsoft Excel using reasonable "guesses" based upon
the data in clauses (a) and (b) above or such other calcunlation methodology commonly
used by accounting and financial professionals at such time of calculation.

2 Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, by mutual agreement between the

parties to this agreement, the timing and method used in calculating the IRR preference hurdle
can be modified.
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HAS
‘CAPITAL

MEMORANDUM

TO:
FROM:

DATE:

CEKPROPERTY MANAGHEMENT, LLC

ADAM D. PETERSON

BASIC ECONOMIC TERMS FOR OPERATING PARTNERSHIP INVESTING IN MULTI-FAMILY
APARTMENTS

4/22/2015

STEPHEN A. WHEELER

As we discussed yesterday, the basic economics of our business relationship as they relate to CK Property
Management, LLC are outlined below as HAS Capital, ILC or its affiliates will act as Owner and CK
Property Management, LLC will act as Operating Partner and Mansger in our selected investments in multi-

1 family apartments.

Acquisition Fee — 1.0% of the Purchase Price of the underlying asset — 0.75% paid at Closing of
the acquisition, 0.25% paid at permanent debt financing of the asset.

Ongoing Property Management Fee — 4.0% of collected gross revenues, paid monthiy

Construction Management Fee — 5.0% of all renovation/value add construction costs; paid as
drawn from a construction reserve. No construction management fee will be paid on normal
periodic repairs less than $25,000 in total.

Disposition Fee — 0.50% of the gross sales price of the nunderlying asset at its eventual sale

Profit Participation — 10% of ongoing Net Cash Flow after an Internal Rate of Return on the
total investment by HAS Capital reaches 8.0%. Such internal rate of retum will be calculated on a
“Private Equity Basis” assuming a market sale beginning on the 39 anniversary of the initial
intermediate term financing of the undedying asset; regardless of whether a sale is actually
consummated. The Internal Rate of Return will be based upon the equity investment of HAS
Capital, LLC remaining immediately following the initial intecmediate term financing.

These are the recollections from my notes from the meeting of April 21. Please provide any comments
you may have directly to me.

30 North La Salle Street, Suite 1402
Chicago, Tllinois 60602
Telephone ( 312) 346-1874 Facsimile (773) 295-0009
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